The Swiss Colony at Gruetli --
Bridge to a New Land

From 1869 to the early years of the 20" century, over fifty
families of Swiss immigrants came to Grundy County,
Tennessee with the express purpose of creating a Swiss
Colony, a community composed almost entirely of German-
speaking Swiss that would preserve their culture in a new
land. They gave to the area the inspiring name of Gruetli, the
meadow where legend says representatives of three cantons
met in 1291 and formed the league which grew, over
centuries, into the Swiss confederation. They came with high
hopes, definite support of their home government, and fervent
loyalty to their native land. This book tells their story.

Today, most physical evidence of the Colony has vanished.
Fortunately, this bridge, built with community labor in the
earliest days of the settlement survives to symbolize the
Colony, itself a bridge for those Swiss families into
mainstream America.
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The Gruetli or Ruetli meadow in Switzerland, looking north. Painting by
Johann Heinrich Bleuler, 1834 or 1835.

Location of the Riitli meadow (arrow) on Lake Lucerne

Peter Staub is depicted in the early records of Gruetli as the benefactor,
indeed, as the savior of the colony. A Swiss immigrant, he became mayor
of Knoxville, and the above portrait hangs in the city hall there. He was
somewhat maligned in the original text reprinted here, but further

research, now included in the book, has fully justified the high regard in
which the Gruetli settlers held him.
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Preface

From 1869 to the early years of the 20" century, a number of
Swiss immigrants came to a remote site on the Cumberland
Plateau with the idea of creating a Swiss Colony, a community
composed almost entirely of German-speaking Swiss. They
gave to the area the inspiring name of Gruetli, the meadow
where, in the legend used by Friedrich Schiller in his Wilhelm
Tell, representatives of three cantons met in 1307 and formed
the league which grew, over centuries, into the Swiss confedera-
tion. This Tennessee settlement was to be explicitly Swiss; the
community was to be called Switzerland, and the city which
they hoped would rise within it was to be Bern. They expected
to have their own schools, taught in both German and English.
They came with high hopes, definite support of their home gov-
ernment, and fervent loyalty to their native land.

This book tells their story. It recounts the founding of the
colony in 1869-70, describes some of the prominent families,
chronicles the discussions of the Agricultural Society, and, to
some extent, follows the settlers and their descendants as they
moved away and assimilated into American society. Its core is
the master’s thesis of Frances Helen Jackson, The German Swiss
Settlement at Gruetli, Tennessee, accepted in June of 1933 by
the German Department of Vanderbilt University. Jackson visit-
ed Gruetli and was evidently taken by these remarkable people
who still, after more than sixty years in the Tennessee moun-
tains, preserved striking evidence of the European Swiss culture
of their ancestors. Her principal sources were the stories of the
people themselves. Had she not recorded them, they would be
largely lost to us today. Some families, however, still remember
stories she did not include. And there is the story of what has
happened to these families in the 70 years since she wrote. 1
have added material from these other sources in footnotes and
sections labeled “Update” or “Addendum.”



Inevitably, one asks, “Was the Colony a success?” Today,
when one visits Gruetli and finds as the only traces of the Swiss
community, a cemetery, four or five Swiss-built houses, some
foundations of long-gone homes, and a few people of Swiss de-
scent, it is easy to conclude that the Colony was a failure. This
judgment, would, I believe, be inappropriate.

The immigrants came seeking economic prosperity and dig-
nity for themselves and their children. If the Colony had imme-
diately wilted and disbanded, one would be justified in calling it
a failure. On the day of the initial allocation of lots in 1869,
there were 41 purchasers present. The minutes of community
meetings report lots allocated to 81 persons by the end of 1869.
However, at the community elections on December 31, 1869,
only 31 votes were cast, presumably one per family. The map of
June 1, 1872 shows 80 landowners, 48 of them the same as in
the minutes. Apparently, 33 of the original assignees had indeed
left more or less immediately. Presumably, they foresaw the
sore trial of the 1869-70 winter, for which they would not have
time to build adequate shelter or provide themselves with food.
But after that winter, the inflow began again, and by the time the
map was made, these 33 owners had been replaced by 32 new
owners. An owner, however, was not necessarily a settler; on
the map, only about 36 lots had houses on them. Between these
two dates, the 1870 Census showed 137 people of Swiss origin
living in Grundy County in 43 households, a few outside the
Colony area. A decade later, the 1880 Census showed 321 peo-
ple of Swiss origin (or born to Swiss parents) living in 68 house-
holds in Grundy County, mostly in the Gruetli area. Of these
households, 32 were new between 1872 and 1880. Evidently, the
word going back to Switzerland was encouraging more families
to come.

Twenty-five years after establishment of the Colony, we
read:

There is a Swiss Colony in Grundy County, Tennes-
see, which seems like a part of a foreign country, so per-
fectly have they kept their native habits and customs, and
style of architecture in the building of their little cottages.
There are carvers there whose quaint work finds ready sale.
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Market gardening is a feature of the colony, and those who
can talk English take the produce to town and sell it. Their
wines have taken several premiums, and it is a rare treat to
go through their well-kept vineyards. One of the remark-
able phases of life there is the great age to which they at-
tain, there being several centenarians among them and
nonagenarians not being at all uncommon. The mountains
surrounding them, while not so high or grand as their native
Alps, are sufficiently steep to keep them from being lonely
for the sight of their native hills, and none of them has ever
returned to Switzerland, although a number of them have
grown quite wealthy and could go if they wished.'

These words probably provide the best assessment we have
of the success of the Colony. Another source tells us “Many
farmers owned twenty to thirty head of cattle and two horses.
Almost everyone had his own wine cellar.” * In 1891, they were
considering sending products to the World’s Fair in Chicago to
show the world what Gruetli could produce. While the dreams
of a Swiss city, to be called Bern, had not materialized, the
hopes for agricultural prosperity had largely come true. More-
over, the younger generation had been educated in both German
and English. When the mechanization of agriculture began to
induce massive, nationwide out-migration of farm labor, the
young Swiss were in a position to move into the American
mainstream. They found the hoped-for prosperity not by main-
taining a narrow, ethnic enclave, but by assimilating into the
American mainstream. The Colony, however, enabled these
Swiss farmers to achieve this assimilation without going
through the demeaning experience suffered by immigrants to big
cities. In this sense, the Colony was a definite success. To doc-
ument this success, we shall follow a few families down to the
present. I hope that other families not so covered will send me
material about their stories for future printings of this book.

The Swiss were good record keepers, and Jackson made use
of all the written sources she could find. Perhaps because the

' The Coming Nation. No. 52. April 28, 1894, p. 3. Cited by Grace
Stone, “Tennessee: Social and Economic Laboratory,” Sewanee Re-
view vol 46, 1938, pp. 43-44.

2 Grace Stone, p. 42.



thesis was written for the German Department, extensive quota-
tions from German primary sources were left untranslated.
Translations have been made for this volume and put in the main
text, while the German originals have gone into appendices.
Jackson’s photographs have been reproduced along with some
new ones. The text has been very lightly edited for smoother
reading or factual correction at a few points. The “brochure”
was translated for this edition by Jennifer Baggenstoss Boyd;
other translations are by the editor. I have added a few footnotes
and comments; they appear within square brackets. Where these
added passages express opinions not necessarily shared by Jack-
son, I have signed them Ed. An index, maps, and the music for
“Das Griitli” have been added.

Perhaps I should say a word about how I came to be inter-
ested in Gruetli. Since 1887, my mother’s family has owned
one of the summer cottages in Beersheba Springs. I grew up
spending summers there and remember Swiss Colony cheese as
a special treat. My wife, Joan, and I try to spend a few weeks
every summer in the cottage. In 2000, we saw at the Dutch
Maid bakery in Tracy City an announcement of a Swiss Reunion
to which all were invited. We went and were surprised to find
ourselves the only German speakers present. We were asked to
look at several old documents and became interested in knowing
more. [ obtained a copy of the Jackson thesis and realized that,
with its long quotations in untranslated German, it was not ac-
cessible to many who would be most interested. So arose the
idea for this publication.

Pamela Parker Helms and Susan Parker Martin, daughters of
Frances Helen Jackson Parker, kindly gave permission to reprint
this material and added a most interesting page, “About the Au-
thor,” with a brief account of the life of their remarkable mother.
We are also indebted to the staff of the Special Collections sec-
tion of the Vanderbilt Library for their help in copying the the-
sis, putting us in touch with the author’s daughters, and finally
lending the thesis to the University of Maryland so that the pho-
tographs could be scanned at no cost. Dola Schild Tylor has con-
tributed a fascinating account of the reminiscences of her grand-
mother, Barbara Marugg, of her teenage years in Gruetli in the
1870’s. LaDora Mayes Rose, a Wichser descendant, offers
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vivid memories of childhood visits to Gruetli and a fascinating
account of the discovery of her family's history back the the
1300s in Schwanden, Switzerland. Jacob and Clara Suter, Oliv-
er Jervis, William Ray Turner, Gayle VanHooser, John W.
Greeter, Albert J. Thoni, Lycinda Thoni Allen, Joseph Schild,
Stephen, Margaret, and Henry Stampfli, Dola Schild Tylor and
Herschel Gower have generously guided my efforts. Russ
Buchan of the Tracy City Business Council scanned the original
copy and put in all the German umlaut letters by hand. Birgit
Meade carefully proofread the text, including the German. Jack-
ie Suter Lawley also proofread the English part of the text at a
late stage, and corrected some of the material on the Suter fami-
ly. John Baggenstoss handled printing. To all these contributors,
the Grundy County Swiss Historical Society and the editor are
most grateful. To them, as the Swiss of Gruetli would have said,
Hoch! Hoch! Hoch!

Clopper Almon, Editor

7303 Dartmouth Ave.
College Park, MD 20740
301-699-9058
almon@econ.umd.edu
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Modern (1988) map of the Colony area, from www.usgs.gov.
Shaded areas are forested,; white areas are cleared. The same
source offers excellent, even more recent, aerial photographic
maps. The sharp point of the plateau on the north side of Big
Creek Gulf'is Stone Door.



Modern map overlain with the lots and streets shown on the
1872 map of the Colony. Longitude and latitude are shown for
use in locating lots with GPS devices. J.U.Baur’s 1872 work
used magnetic north rather than true north. Otherwise, it ap-

pears quite accurate in the area of the lots, except that the
creeks were not carefully drawn.
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Introduction

“Schild’s Store, 2 miles” said the sign where I turned off
the beautiful new highway about halfway between Beersheba
Springs and Monteagle on my first trip to Gruetli®. This little
road, which is practically impassable in wet weather, winds
around and finally comes to a group of about five or six houses,
in the center of which is Schild's Store. After talking to Mr.
Schild for a few minutes, I learned that this was the center of the
once-thriving Swiss Colony of Gruetli, and that the other inhabi-
tants of the village lived in homes which were scattered over an
area of approximately 20 square miles. I drove around to see
several of the families; and, had not Mr. Schild's daughter been
with me, I should never have found the way on those little roads
whose only objective seemed to be to get around the next tree.
But we did get somewhere and met the most unusual people
who were entirely different from the typical mountaineer. My
interest was immediately aroused to learn more about these peo-
ple and how they happened to come to such an isolated spot. It
was then that I decided it would be worth the time and effort to
find the explanation of this ethnic phenomenon.

It is this explanation, -- the story of the founding, the
trend, and the present [1933] condition of this German-Swiss
colony in Grundy County, Tennessee -- which I shall attempt on
the following pages.

My method of getting this information has been largely
through personal interviews with the Swiss who are still living
in the colony and also those who are at present living in Nash-
ville and elsewhere. However, another source, without which
this work would have been impossible, is the record book which
contains the minutes of the Landwirtschaftsverein from 1873 up

? [The sign now (2002) says “Colony Road” and turns off to the east of
Tennessee 56 1.4 miles north of its intersection with Tennessee 108 or
about 3.2 miles south of the intersection in Altamont. Schild’s store
stood just east of “the stagecoach inn,” which is still standing. |
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until 1917 when it finally disbanded, and which was generously
loaned me by its last secretary, Mr. Ernst Stampfli, in Gruetli.
[This manuscript is now in the Tennessee State Library and Ar-
chives in Nashville.] Another work which has assisted me
greatly is the record book of the Swiss reformed church of
Gruetli in which the first twenty-five pages are devoted entirely
to the founding of the colony. Both of these manuscripts are
written entirely in German script and are the only extant official
documents of the colony. The latter is in the possession of Mr.
Chris Schild in Gruetli. [This document was carefully treasured
by Katie Wichser and passed on to her nephew Delbert Hargis
of Palmer, who preserves it with equal care. In 2003, he gener-
ously lent it briefly to the Tennessee State Library and Archives,
where it was microfilmed.]

12



Chapter 1. Captain Plumacher and the Days before
the Colony

[Interest in establishing Swiss colonies in Tennessee goes
back to the 1840’s. In 1844, the Swiss government, aware of the
problems of over population and pressure on the land, estab-
lished a commission to facilitate emigration of those who
wished to leave the country. The Commission gave cordial wel-
come to the representatives of the Tennessee Colonization Com-
pany which was “occupied with the founding of a colony in the
North American State of Tennessee.” The plan was to send a
small number of families in the fall of 1845 to try out the cli-
mate and look over the prospects. Announcement of the possi-
bility of emigration led to the application of 51 families. By
giving priority to those with agricultural experience who could
buy land with their own means and to large families, the com-
mission chose five, namely those of:

Andreas Kron, Jr. 9 members
Joseph Vollmer, 6 members

Simon Schmidt, 3 members
Christian Brei, 3 members

Ciprian Fischer (a dyer), 3 members.

The decision of the commission was dated August 19,
1845.% Grace Stone, who discovered this source, believed that
they were bound for Gruetli in Grundy County. The 1850 Cen-
sus finds the Kron family in Morgan county, which lies about
half way between 1-40 and the Kentucky line north of Crab Or-
chard. I did not find any of the others in Tennessee at that time.
None of them appear in any land transaction in Grundy County

* Faust, Albert B. Guide to the Materials for American Histo-
ry in Swiss and Austrian Archives. Published in 1916 by the
Carnegie Institution of Washington. Cited in Grace Stone,
“Tennessee: Social and Economic Laboratory, Sewanee Re-
view, vol 46, 1938, pp 40-41.
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prior to 1904. Though the incident is an interesting antecedent
of the Gruetli project, it seems safe to say that these settlers
played no role in the founding of Gruetli.]

The leading spirit in the undertaking which resulted in the
colony at Gruetli, was Captain E. H. Plumacher’ a German by
birth but evidently Swiss in sympathies. In 1867, he was sent by
the Swiss government as Commissioner of Emigration to the
United States with the purpose of finding a spot for a colony.
Many have doubted the existence of this office by saying that it
was not natural for a government to send out representatives to
take away her own people, but in refutation to that I shall quote
from Albert B. Faust:

Especially severe measures were taken to arrest and
punish persons suspected to be emigrant agents, or to be in
any way stirring up a desire in the rural population to emi-
grate. The Swiss archives throw much new light on the
methods by which such men proceeded, the manner in
which they evaded detection, and the skill with which they
defended themselves when caught. (Approximately 1710-
1750.) . . . The embargo placed upon emigration was re-
moved in the 19th century, when conditions of overpopula-
tion, famine, failure of crops, hard times, etc., periodically
recurred in many districts. Paternal authority began to see
some advantage in emigration, provided the emigrants
prospered in their new abode. The complaints from the
governments of France, the Netherlands, and Prussia, in the
second decade of the 19th century, concerning the congre-
gating of large numbers of Swiss paupers at the seaports,
hopelessly waiting for an opportunity to embark for Ameri-
ca, brought about the beginnings of the regulation of emi-
gration from Switzerland. The money for the trip had to be
vouched for before an emigrant was furnished with a pass.
The policy was adopted, neither to encourage nor to dis-

> The information about Captain Plumacher has been giv-
en me mainly by his daughter, Mrs. Dagmar Bohr of
Beersheba Springs. A few notes were given me by Mr.
Martin Marugg of Tracy City.
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courage emigration, but to let it take its course, and to pro-
tect the emigrant as far as possible against the selfishness of
speculators.

The business of transporting emigrants was left in the
hands of agencies, who were soon required to secure a li-
cense and obey the laws protecting the emigrant. In 1880,
the Federal Emigration Bureau was established at Bern, to
watch the licensed emigration bureaus, to distribute litera-
ture furnishing all needed information, to advise emigrants
personally, and to keep statistics of emigration.®

Just how official Plumacher’s position was, is hard to deter-
mine, but we can tell approximately what he did after his arrival
in the United States. I quote from his Memoirs’

We [Plumacher and J. B. Killebrew, whom Plumacher
describes as Comissioner of Agriculture, Statistics, and
Mines, but whose title was probably Secretary of the Bu-
reau of Agriculture] conversed for some time in regard to
the best methods of attracting immigration to the South,
and I expressed the opinion that the best and cheapest mode
would be to recommend to the national government the ap-
pointment of some citizen of our state as Consul in a Euro-
pean port where he would be able to prosecute the good
work and devote himself to the propaganda, explaining by
word and letter the great advantages of Tennessee as re-
gards soil, climate, geographical position, mineral wealth,
etc. etc. In this manner, the attention of European emi-
grants would be called to our state, and a steady current of a
good class of settlers would be the result. At the conclu-

6 Faust, Albert B. Guide to the Materials for American
History in Swiss and Austrian Archives. Published in
1916 by the Carnegie Institution of Washington.

7 An unpublished manuscript. It covers his life for ten
years when he was American Consul in Maracaibo. This
manuscript is in the possession of his grandson now. This
excerpt is taken out of the first ten pages of the book and
is the only mention of his interest in emigration.

15



sion of our discussion the Governor suggested that should
such a course be adopted, I myself would be the most avail-
able person for this important mission, as during the presi-
dency of Andrew Johnson, [ was sent to Tennessee as Com-
missioner of Emigration from Switzerland and had founded
colonies® of Swiss citizens in our state; that I was well post-
ed as to emigration matters in Europe and also knew thor-
oughly the State of Tennessee and could explain the advan-
tages there offered to intending settlers. Here I will permit
myself to diverge from the main line of my story in order to
explain how I came to Tennessee.

On the very day of the impeachment [May 16] of Pres-
ident Johnson in 1868, when Washington was in a blaze of
excitement and wildest rumors were floating about, I, ac-
companied by Mr. John Hitz, Political Agent and Consul
General of the Swiss Republic, went to the White House to
pay my respects to the president as | was about to return to
Europe, and wished to than him for the kindness and assis-
tance with which he had favored me in my official labors.
On the same day we had previously paid a parting visit to
the great Secretary of State, Mr. Seward, to whom I was in-
debted for the interest he had kindly taken in me, so from
Mr. Seward’s we went direct to the presidential mansion.
The Department of State in those days was located in a
most humble edifice, surrounded by ill kept, muddy streets
which were next to impassible in bad weather. Upon ar-
rival at the White House we were at once ushered in and
that day will never be forgotten. In the president’s room
was sitting on the left General Arthur, at that time Collector
of the port of New York, and a most beautiful lady, so per-
fectly handsome that I can sincerely say that in the course
of almost a world wide experience, [ have seen but few
such. The president was enjoying a little lunch, standing,
and not withstanding the great issues of the day, was as
serene and unconcerned as though nothing in particular was
in progress. He listened to all we had to say with great in-

¥ I have not been able to find any records or authority for
his being connected with any other colony than Gruetli.
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terest. Mr. Hitz told him that I had visited most of the
States and had now concluded my labors, after having
found many suitable points for colonization.

,ﬂm
aw

Hllustration 1: Eugen H. Plumacher

When Mr. Johnson learned that [ had come to say
good bye, he asked me if | had seen his adopted state, Ten-
nessee, and I replied no.

17



He expressed much regret that I had not visited "one of
the finest states in the Union -- the pearl of the United
States in climate, richness of soil and mineral wealth." He
further asked if it was absolutely necessary that I return im-
mediately to Europe and Mr. Hitz replied in the negative.

"Well then," said the president, "I will consider it a
personal favor if Captain Plumacher will go to Tennessee
before he definitely concludes his investigations and I will
give him recommendations to my friends. Nothing could
give me greater pleasure than to learn that Mr. Plumacher
has finally the same opinion of Tennessee as myself."

I could not resist the persuasions of the president, and
shortly afterwards started south well provided with excel-
lent letters of introduction to the best people of Tennessee.
How I adopted the views of President Johnson has been
amply proven. [ am a citizen of Tennessee by my own
choice and free will, and am proud to be called a Tennes-
seean.

I love the state and its noble people and do not regret
my choice of a new country, although I left behind me in
Europe a comfortable home, fine position, and a promising
public career . What I have done, I would do again and am
honestly proud to be a citizen of the great beautiful Tennes-
see. For President Andrew Johnson I have always pre-
served a great admiration. A man, who, like him, amid the
hardest trials and struggles of public life, can still find time
to devote his mind to the welfare of his State, is really a
great man.”

On this visit to Tennessee he made the acquaintance of

Colonel John Armfield, and was invited to his summer home at
Beersheba Springs. Colonel Armfield had purchased the land at
Beersheba Springs in 1854 and had built the hotel and resi-
dences, promoting it as a summer resort.'°

° Plumacher, Memoirs
' Bentley, Blanche Spurlock, 4 History of Beersheba
Springs.
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Captain Plumacher was so impressed with the location that
he thought it would be a fine site for the new colony, and so set
about making the necessary arrangements.

He aroused the interest of Mr. John Hitz, the Political Agent
and Consul General of the Swiss Republic, and Mr. Peter Staub,
Swiss but living in Knoxville at that time, and the three formed
sort of a silent partnership to buy up the land and have it sur-
veyed and ready for the settlers as they came over. Mr. Hitz and
Captain Plumacher were not able to take any part in the actual
buying of the land because of their governmental positions, but
the general opinion seems to be that they were the ones who ar-
ranged all the deals. In the meantime, Captain Plumacher
bought some land near Beersheba for his own future home and
built the residence which was known as 'Dan" until it burned and
was replaced by the present house in which his daughter re-
sides."!

After making these arrangements, Captain Plumacher seems
to have lost all interest in the colony and was not concerned with
its growth at all.”? The present members of the colony do not
have any remembrance of him. He returned to Switzerland to
get his wife and son and daughter and bring them to their new
home. They arrived in America and were nicely settled before
the colony was ready for the settlers to start coming. Captain
Plumacher spent his time between Nashville and Beersheba
Springs, teaching German in the public schools of Nashville and
for one winter, that of 1870 and 1871, was professor of German,
French, and other Modern Languages in Cumberland University.
At this time he was seeking an American consular position in
one of the European countries. Unsuccessful in realizing this
ambition, he accepted the position as United States Consul to

" [Dan is now, 2002, occupied by Plumacher’s great grandson, John

Bohr and his wife Frances. £d.]

12 [The reason he “lost all interest” appears below. He had been unable
to deliver on time in his contract with the landowners. When it lapsed,
they declared the contract with him void and arranged a new contract
with Staub, not Plumacher, acting as Trustee for the colonists. I have
found no evidence that Plumacher involved Staub. Rather, the colonists
turned to their consul general, Hitz in Washington, and Hitz sought
Staub’s help. Ed.]
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Maracaibo in Venezuela. He held this post for thirty-three years
until he was forced to give it up because of increasing blindness
and deafness.

His family spent part of the period of his consularship in Eu-
rope, where his two children were educated, and the rest of the
time they resided at Beersheba Springs in the family home. In
about 1880, they moved to Beersheba permanently because of
the son's bad health. The son died of consumption shortly after,
and Mr. Plumacher returned home from South America for a
few months at that time, but was forced to go back to his du-
ties."?

Returning to Mr. Staub, who was getting control of all the
land, we find that he was succeeding and acquiring title to all the
property within an area of about twenty square miles.' T shall
give a short history of the land and of the early titles.

[This often quoted allegation against Staub is absolutely
without support in the Colony’s records or the deed books of

13 [Plumacher’s daughter, Dagmar Bohr, perpetuated her father’s mem-
ory but said not a word about her far more remarkable mother, Olga
Hiinerwadel Pliimacher. Not even her own son knew that his grand-
mother had written two substantial and significant books on philosophy
and published a number of articles in German. She also had a philo-
sophical correspondence with Franz Wedekind (1864-1918), son of
one of her classmates and a major German poet and playwright of his
time. As a young man, Wedekind discovered in his “philosophical
aunt” a soul with whom he could communicate. Rolf Kieser, a profes-
sor of German at the State University of New York, was working on
Wedekind and found Olga’s letters to Franz in the Wedekind Archiv in
Switzerland. He came to Beersheba, where they were written, hoping
to find the letters from Wedekind. He found no letters but became fas-
cinated with this extraordinary woman scholar, who from Grundy
County could participate in German philosophical debate. The result
of his interest is a book Olga Pliimacher-Hiinerwadel, eine gelehrte
Frau des neunzehnten Jahrhunderts (Lenzburg, 1990). Olga’s nephew
Arnold Hiinerwadel came from Switzerland to visit his aunt, stayed,
married, and brought up a large family in Beersheba. Frances Jackson
would no doubt have been fascinated to know Olga’s story, so we may
safely assume that nothing was said to her about Olga’s books and phi-
losophy. Ed.]
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164Grundy County. Both sources show that Staub bought the
land as the settlers’ agent after they had arrived. He was called
to the rescue of the settlers. Moreover, he sold the land at what
he paid for it, but since he could not sell it all, he lost money on
the transaction. Please see Appendix D on Peter Staub’s land
transactions. — Ed. ]

In the year 1835, the State of Tennessee made grants in
5000 acre tracts to Dr. Samuel Edmondson of McMinnville,
Samuel B. Barrell of Boston, Edmond Monroe of Massachusetts
and Joseph McEwen."” 1In 1849, 2000 acres were granted to
George and Gideon Gilley by the State. These grants were lo-
cated on the Cumberland Plateau in East Tennessee and were
granted by Newton Cannon, then Governor of the State. The de-
scriptions of these areas are all similar and to the lay mind rather
meaningless, but I shall give one of them, from Book W in the
State Files of Land Grants in Warren County, by way of expla-
nation.

State of Tennessee No. 4934

To all to whom these presents shall come, Greeting.
Know ye that by virtue of Entry No. 4041 made in the of-
fice of the entry taker of Warren County and entered on the

'3 [These were Mountain District purchase grants. A legislative act of
1827 had authorized the sale of grants of surplus land in the Cumber-
land mountains in 5000 acre tracts. The sale, at prices ranging from 1
cent to 12.5 cents per acre, yielded a little revenue and got the land on
the tax rolls. Samuel M. Barrell of Boston bought hundreds of thou-
sands of acres of these lands, apparently purely as a speculator. See
Tennessee Land Grants, Barbara, Byron, and Samuel Sistler, (Byron
Sistler & Associates, Nashville, 1998). Some of this he sold to Edmund
Monroe of Cambridge, Massachusetts. Other Barrell land was sold for
taxes in 1861 and bought by Wm. C. Hill of McMinnville. Monroe
died intestate, and in 1866 his eight children appointed Massey Hill of
Coffee County their agent for the sale of a total of 552,812 acres in
Warren (including Grundy), Marion, Coffee, Franklin, Lincoln and
Cannon Counties. (Deed Record Book F of Grundy County.) As au-
thority for the certificates he issued to the Gruetli settlers, Peter Staub
cited his deeds from M. Hill (presuamably Massey Hill) and Wm. C.
Hill. It was the messy title to the lands of the Monroe heirs that later
caused Staub trouble. Ed.]
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10th day of October 1835 pursuant to the provisions of an
act of the General Assembly of said State of Tennessee
unto Samuel Edmondson assignee of Stephen M. Griswold
a certain tract or parcel of land containing five thousand
acres by survey bearing date the 30th day of September
1836 lying in said County on Cumberland Mountain on the
head waters of the Collins River. Beginning on the begin-
ning corner of his one thousand acre survey, a pine on the
turpentine branch (No. of his Entry 3165) running south
crossing Rains Creek at 560 Poles in all 980 Poles to a
hickory. Thence east 908 poles to a hickory, then north
crossing Eastleys Road at 260 poles. Rockhouse fork of
Fall Creek at 580 poles in all, 980 poles to a hickory. Then
west passing said Griswold's corner of his 720 acre survey
by virtue of said entry No. 3165 and on with his line 980
poles, to the beginning. With the hereditaments and appur-
tenances, to have and to hold said tract or parcel of land
with its appurtenances to the said Samuel Edmondson and
his heirs for-ever, In witness whereof Newton Cannon,
Governor of the State of Tennessee has hereunto set his
hand and caused the great seal of the State to be affixed at
Nashville on the 6th day of January 1837.

Luke Lea, Secretary

This property was neglected by the owners and finally
was sold for taxes and came into the hands of Wm. C. Hill,
James H. Hughes, and F. M. Moffett of McMinnville and J. M.
Bouldin'® of Altamont. These were the men with whom Peter
Staub dealt. He paid different prices for the land, and bought it
in both large and small quantities, in as little as 100 acre lots to
6000 acre lots. From a study of the deeds in the Grundy County

' [Following the spelling of the text reproduced in Appendix B, Jack-
son writes “a Mr. Boulin.” The deed books show no one by the name
of Boulin or Boulen as either grantor or grantee of a deed. On the other
hand, J. M. Bouldin is involved in many transactions. I have therefore
replaced both Boulin and Boulen by Bouldin in the English but let the
original stand in the German. £d.]
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Courthouse, I have been able to deduce that the prices ranged
from $.40 an acre to $.90 an acre. A copy of one of the deeds is
interesting in its wording and in the restrictions which are in-
cluded.

... Containing 1551 acres part of a 5000 acre tract en-
tered in the name of Greenwood Paine by entry No.  and
granted to Sam. B. Barrell by grant No.  which two
tracts of land he the said Peter Staub is to have and to hold
to him his heirs and assigns in fee simple forever, but in
trust for the purposes of settlement and by him to be dis-
posed of to actual settlers in tracts of not more than 100
acres each, designating and reserving 200 acres for church
and school purposes, and we the foregoing named persons
by our attorney in fact and otherwise bind ourselves, our
heirs and representatives to forever warrant and defend the
right and title in and to the foregoing described tracts of
land. . .."

After the land had been bought there was nothing else to
do but to get the settlers to come over', so they resorted to the
usual means of making projects known, that of the printed
broadsides (Broschiiren). There is no record as to who was the
author of the broadsides which were to advertise the Cumber-
land Mountain project, but in all probability they were made by
Mr. Staub and sent to Switzerland, to other European countries,

7 From book F of records in the County Courthouse of

Grundy County.

'8 [Jackson no doubt accurately captures the “general opinion” around
the colony in 1933. The minutes of the early meetings of the colony,
presented in the next chapter, and the deed books in the Court House at
Altamont tell a very different story. The deed books show no purchase
of land by Staub before August, 1869. The minutes show that the
problem was that the land had not been bought and rno¢ surveyed before
the arrival of the colonists. The colonists complain in desperation to
Consul Hitz in Washington, who then calls in Staub to rescue the
colonists. Staub was negotiating with landowners in midsummer of
1869 in the presence of the colonists. Moreover, they recognized that
he had saved the whole operation. The question of whether he made
money on the colony is examined in Appedix D at the end of the book,
but the brief answer is definitely not. Ed.]
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and to the Northern States where they were posted on the street
corners, in public buildings, and anywhere else they might catch
the eye. Through the courtesy of Martin Marugg, I obtained one
of these old Broschuren. (See picture below.) The exaggera-
tions and gross misrepresentations are evident on first glance.
The following are excerpts which will show, better than I could
possibly tell, the "ballyhoo" -- typical of much emigrant propa-
ganda -- which induced these Swiss peasants to leave their
homes and come to the Cumberland Mountains.

East Tennessee
The American Switzerland
To the Farmer!
The state where you should settle!
Great Facilities for Manufactures of every Kind in East
Tennessee.

Below you will find a circular, which contains an ex-
act statement of the advantages which the iron and steel in-
dustry must bring to East Tennessee. This large region of
land, the future home of a numerous, affluent population
will soon be crisscrossed in all directions by railroads, and
iron manufacturer will multiply the routes commerce. Iron,
which costs eight dollars per ton to produce in Pennsylva-
nia, can be produced in East Tennessee for one dollar and
sixty cents. The coal and iron mines are hardly a mile away
from each other in an area of more than forty miles. The
time will come when this narrow valley and region of land
will be full of blast furnaces.!® Coal, iron, lime, sandstone,

1% [No author of the brochure is indicated. Jackson presumed that Staub
had written it, but I think both internal and external evidence points
elsewhere. The first part of the brochure has a decidedly muddled
quality. Ostensibly a call to farmers, it begins with talk of the iron and
steel industry, which, in itself, was of no direct interest to farmers. No-
tice that the “large region of land” quickly becomes a “narrow valley,”
which hardly describes the Cumberland plateau. There is virtually no
organization in the writing. Plumacher, as we will see in the next chap-
ter, had been unable to acquire land, have it surveyed, and ready to sell
to the colonists when they arrived. I see a link between this ineffectual
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handling of practical affairs and the disorded thinking of this opening
of the brochure. The external evidence is that Plumacher’s account,
colony minutes and county deed books all agree that Staub was not in-
volved before summer 1869. Moreover, it was Plumacher, not Staub,
who had gone back to Switzerland and whose job it was to write such
material. The second part of the brochure, probably the “circular” re-
ferred to in the first sentence, is from a different mind. Ed.]
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clay, different types of the best timber, excellent water
power, all of this lies unused and awaits capital and the en-
terprising spirit. The best market for the sale of all possible
products, iron and steel included, are now at hand. Iron and
steel from this region have been described as better than the
products of Pennsylvania by qualified iron experts and
businessmen. Still more railroads are under construction,
among them the Cincinnati and Chattanooga Line, which
cuts through this region. All of these railroads will contrib-
ute substantially to extracting the mineral wealth of this
part of the country.

The example of Pennsylvania shows how prosperous a
population can become through iron production. If Tennes-
see so wills, it can become a second Pennsylvania.

Your attention is respectfully requested to the benefits
of capital investment.

The massive riches, which are available from the
mines in east Tennessee, are of great significance. The
modest amounts of capital and labor required to develop the
agricultural and mineral riches of the state and the fertility
of the earth are certainly a considerable stimulus for the
emigrants. These same factors must bring considerable
wealth to those who settle here, for this region is among to
the richest in the land. The numerous railroads, which
stretch out their gigantic arms in all directions, as well as
the various steamship lines, establish an unbroken connec-
tion between the overpopulated old world and the still
sparsely populated regions of East Tennessee, where every
immigrant will find himself richly rewarded for his troubles
of coming here, through the exploitation of agricultural and
mineral riches.

The climate and the soil of east Tennessee are excep-
tionally favorable for tea cultivation, and Tennessee tea is
already very often drunk. Many grow their entire household
requirement without much effort or cost. In a single season
three crops of tea ripen. In general, the introduction of a
successful tea cultivation will richly compensate those who
dedicate themselves to it. The tea plant is an evergreen
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bush with many roots, about 5 feet high, which thrives in
the mountains as well as the valleys and never needs pro-
tection from frost.

Along the East Tennessee and Virginia railroad
stretches a vein of splendid marble in eleven varieties, two
of them are equal to the famous antique Rosso and the
rough antique Italian marble in quality. The quantity is in-
exhaustible, the density is compact and the stone is totally
free from pores. Prof. Dickinson recently discovered an en-
tirely new type of marble, which he named Zebra, because
of the peculiar division of the white and chocolate-colored
stripes. This marble can take the finest polish; it is pure
calcium carbonate. Blocks of whatever size can be cut in
these marble veins.

The wild grape grows rampant in rich abundance, just
as the peaches and pears grow to the best quality. People
here have grown peaches of 9 inches in circumference and
9 ounces in weight; Peanuts® grow in rich abundance. The
forests are full of game and wild turkeys.

This region is especially suited for northerners and im-
migrants. It is a firm stronghold of loyalty; and if | have
something to regret, it is only that it is so sparsely populat-
ed and so much valuable land lies waste.

The first impression, which the visitor of east Tennes-
see gets is that the state has made good progress in the re-
construction of the businesses, the train connections are
perfect, but are being further expanded and multiplied daily
with superhuman effort. All of these advantages, coupled
with the extraordinarily low land prices, (from 5 to 20 and
30 dollars per acre) are big attractions for the immigrants,
especially since property can be sold in parcels of from 1 to
100 acres, as the settler desires?'. . . .

» The normal German word for “peanut “is “Erdnuss.” The word used
here is “Pfaunuss.” “Pfau” is “peacock,” and I suspect “Pfaunuss” of
being Plumacher’s creative translation of “peanut.” Ed.]

2! [At this point, the format changes and the tone shifts from real estate
hyperbole to a more informative account, which I take to be “the circu-
lar”. It plainly says that the soil on the plateau is “stony, partly sandy,
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The Soil

The soil in the valleys is in general dark black clay of
the first class and where it is wooded, or shortly after it is
made arable, it is very rich and fruitful and is inferior only
to the western prairie lands. Land which has now been cul-
tivated for half a century is partly very rich, but also partly
exhausted, because the cultivators never sowed grass and
they economized by using the most exhausting systems on
the land. Nevertheless, the property was very quickly made
productive again, by mixing a strong clay layer of primitive
clay and marl stone. It is not of importance towards which
direction the land lies, it is warm everywhere, the soil is
productive everywhere and rewards the farmer liberally for
his work. The soil quality of the high plateau and the moun-
tain ranges is stony, partly sandy, consisting mostly of
sandy loam underlain by clay.

The Climate

No part of the Union is so very favored by a beautiful
and healthy climate as this one. The biggest snow that fell
last winter was not deeper than 1% inches in the valley and
on the plateau and mountains not deeper than 6 inches. The
big rivers have frozen over only once in 25 years, neverthe-
less the morning hours are cool, sometimes frosty, and dur-
ing the winters always rather fresh. The spring begins quite
early, the summers are long; however, owing to the special
lay of the land, they are not excessively hot. Nowhere can

consisting mostly of sandy loam underlain by a layer of clay.” That is
pretty accurate. But did the colonists know that they were coming to
the plateau? In the lower right corner of the photograph of the
brochure are two passages not transcribed by Jackson. The first is
called “The City of Chattanooga”; the second begins with “To Farm-
ers” in large letters followed on the next line by “The Cumberland
Plateau.” Unfortunately, the following text is too small and indistinct
to be read from the picture; but it seems likely that it made clear that
the farmland being offered was on the plateau.

I presume that the text down to this point is from Pliimacher,
while the Circular is, as it later says, by someone who had moved in
from Pennsylvania. Ed.]
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the summer be more pleasant than on the mountain ranges
and the high plateau. The autumns are long and last until
late in December.

The inhabitants normally plow throughout the entire
winter. Here we have neither the cold, numbing winter of
the north, nor the paralyzing, exhausting heat of the south.

Vegetable Products

As for the products of the land, we are as favored as
any stretch of land in the Union. We can raise anything that
is grown in either the north or the south. The plateau bears
corn, oats and all vegetables of the best sort. Last summer,
within five miles of the place where I live, white turnips
were grown, whose circumference came to twenty inches;
the potatoes here are very big and of excellent quality. The
valley produces wheat, corn, oats, rye and clover in abun-
dance.

Cattle Raising

This is a cattle-breeding land of the first class; our
mild climate requires little use of stables. While the
plateau offers plentiful free pasture, which stays green from
the first of April until the first of December, the valley
more or less yields grass pastures throughout the whole
winter. As a land for cattle raising, East Tennessee is in
some respects preferred over the prairies, and is not inferior
to the best. Before the war, a man here had 600 cattle.

Fruit Cultivating

We are richly blessed with fruit. Apples, pears, peach-
es, plums, cherries and all sorts of small fruit grow in abun-
dance. We grow splendid winter apples; our summer apples
ripen already in June. On the plateau and in the mountains,
the apples grow the best, in the valleys excellent peaches
are grown; these grow by the roads and in the corners of the
fences. It is seldom that we have a bad fruit harvest. The
last shipment of winter apples to the state of Georgia was
sold for $10 per barrel.
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Minerals

We have an abundance of splendid coal. The plateau
and the mountain ranges are interwoven with various pro-
ductive veins. There is an inexhaustible supply of iron ore
here; limestone is found as well; sandstone and clay are
easily obtained; we also have different sorts of salt here.

The Water

The water is clear, clean and resembles crystal; it does
not form stagnating swamps, but flows off rapidly, where it
springs from the ground. In the valleys the riverbeds are of
loamy mud; on the mountains, they are mostly sandstone
mixed with some limestone. Water from the limestone is
very valued for healing purposes.

The Health Situation

I regard this area as one of the healthiest parts of the
entire country; and this view appears to be universal; for
when one travels through the land, he will find much that
grows only here out of health considerations. We have no
local causes of sickness of any sort. Health is generally the
rule and sickness is the exception.

Emigration

Currently, East Tennessee and the bordering parts of
Middle Tennessee continue to claim a large share of the
emigrants; and the demand from the North, East and West
for land indicates that in the not too distant future a signifi-
cant increase in population is to be expected. The programs
of the state, the various societies promoting immigration,
and the railroads continually circulate information across
the country and give real help to people who would like to
settle in Tennessee.

Public Opinion

1 would like to say here that I moved here from Wash-
ington County, Pennsylvania and that the local people have
treated me friendly and kindly. And, so far as I know, other
northerners were treated with the same kindness and
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thoughtfulness as soon as they make arrangements to settle
here. The local people are not merely glad to see immi-
grants; they ardently wish that immigrants come here to
settle down. Every northerner, who conducts himself prop-
erly, will be welcomed by the people; he will be just as safe
and secure as in the states of Pennsylvania or New York.
To northerners with capital or with firm will and strong
arms [ would like to call: " Come over here! Tennessee in-
vites you and there is room enough here for thousands!"

Land Prices

Land costs from 5 to 35 dollars per acre, the average
price is usually $20 at a fair price. We have beautiful for-
ests in abundance. Currently, the land prices are climbing
and all expectations are that in the future they will continue
to increase and at a faster rate. [ don't want to draw compar-
isons with other regions, but I want to say to those who
wish to emigrate to a land where there are no long, harsh
winters to ruin your comfort and waste the earnings of sum-
mer, where an early spring envelops nature in its green
cloak, where a long summer gives the farmer enough time
to see his work rewarded: Come, see, and judge for your-
self.

No one can form for himself an idea of the grandeur
and richness of the natural advantages which East Tennes-
see possesses. That is something one must see for himself
to believe. A population, good-hearted and friendly, with a
well-known sense of honesty and integrity, known for their
neighborly friendliness invites you to take up your resi-
dence among them and to help develop the resources of the
state, to profit from the rich mineral and agricultural trea-
sures, with which a good and gracious Providence has so
richly blessed this eastern®” part of Tennessee.

For those who have chosen to come from Europe and
make Tennessee your destination, the best way is to travel
on a steamboat or sailing vessel to Norfolk, V A,; then ride
the Virginia-East Tennessee train directly to Chattanooga,

2 The text says “western.”
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which is about 300 miles away and takes 10 hours by train.
From Liverpool, London, Bremen or Hamburg, one can
make the trip in 12 to 18 days.

As a result of this propaganda, we find them "biting" and
"falling for” this prospect of quick affluence. The lands seemed
cheap and the idea of one hundred acres must have seemed like
a great estate to some of the poor peasants who came over.
They had absolute faith in their own ability and felt that if they
could just get this land with so much promise, their troubles
would be ended. They came, and they came blindly, trusting in
their fellow man. They arrived, and found that all was not as it
had been pictured in the Broschiiren. They were disappointed
but could not turn back, so they stuck it out. Though many died
in the struggle, their descendants who are left are happy and, al-
though not exactly prospering, are making a living.

k %k

[Editor's Comment: The 25 percent of the American labor
force unemployed in 1933 was not making a living. Were the
first colonists in fact bitterly disappointed or was that a senti-
ment attributed to them sixty years later by descendants living at
the depths of the Great Depression and caught up in the massive,
nationwide out-migration of farm labor? The only recorded
complaint, as we shall see in the next chapter, was that when
they arrived in April, no one could tell them where their land
was to be. They had come in time to clear land, build shelter,
and plant at least a kitchen garden; but, because of administra-
tive hold ups, they could not get started until mid August. Con-
sequently, they suffered intensely during the following winter.
This suffering can justly be laid at Pliimacher’s door, but only
because he was inept in getting business arrangements made.

Had he deliberately deceived the colonists in the brochure?
To be sure, it spoke of an iron industry that never developed, but
that was peripheral to the interests of the farmer colonists. I be-
lieve that he firmly believed that it would develop. Staub had
done well in the iron business around Knoxville and had no
doubt excited Pliimacher’s imagination. The brochure spoke in a
vague and exaggerated way about railroads; but in fact, the rail
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line running from Tracy City to the coal mines near Palmer
came close to Gruetli. The stagecoach route from McMinnville
to Whitwell ran right through it. The soil was not worse than
much that I have seen in cultivation in Switzerland to this day.
It is sometimes said that the colonists were surprised to find the
land forested. But the brochure spoke of “beautiful forests in
abundance” and did not suggest that the land was cleared and
ready to plant. In short, while the tone of the brochure may have
been excessively sanguine, the actual facts relevant to farming
were not grossly wrong. Hence, I do not believe that there was
any intent to deceive. I can fault Plumacher for being ineffectu-
al or for being excessively sanguine himself, but not for inten-
tional deception. In evaluating his role, it should also be noted
that the receipts he gave were acceptable to Staub in payment
for the land; hence he must have dutifully passed on any monies
he had received. And there is no evidence that either he or
Staub made money inappropriately on the operation. Ed.]
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Log cabins built by the Schild family in 1869 and 1871
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Chapter 2. The Founding of the Colony

Only two places in the world have the name Griitli.”® The
original is on the west bank of Lake Lucerne in Switzerland and
its namesake lies on the Cumberland plateau in Grundy County,
Tennessee. Griitli or Riitli is a diminutive in the usual Swiss
form, a word which is related to the High German form Gereut-
lein or Reutlein, and is derived from the verb "reuten" or 'aus-
reuten' meaning “to root out" or “to clear.” A small clearing or
meadow is all there was to the first Griitli; and it was that which
gave to it the name which has clung for over six centuries.

The mythical emergence of the Swiss Griitli is told best in
Wilhelm Tell by Schiller,” and a short summary of his treatment
of the matter will help to clarify the rather confused legend. The
scene is described as follows: A meadow surrounded by high
rocks and wooded ground. On the rocks are tracks, with rails
and ladders, by which the peasants are afterwards seen descend -
ing. In the background the lake is observed, and over it a moon
rainbow in the early part of the scene. The prospect is closed by
lofty mountains, with glaciers rising behind them. The stage is
dark but the lake and glaciers glisten in the moonlight.” This
tallies, 1 think, with the actual description of Gruetliwiese.
Schiller spent a great deal of time studying about the country
and the people®® and his descriptions are looked on as fairly ac-
curate.

2 This spelling is used in Schiller’s Wilhelm Tell and is also
used by many of the Swiss. I have not been able to find any
preference for one or the other, but I shall use the first spelling
since that was the one taken to America. [By 2002, however,
virtually only the Riit/i spelling was found in Swiss sources. Ed.]
2 Schiller's Wilhelm Tell - edited by Karl Breul - Cambridge
University Press, 1890. This legend was taken by Schiller, as
far as possible from Swiss historians.

2 Act 11, Scene 11, ibid.

% He never saw Switzerland, however.
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The Riitli scene, in the Schiller version, takes place on a
moonlight night in the year 1307 when three men with their fol-
lowers met on this picturesque spot to discuss the tyrannies of
the Austrian House of Hapsburg and to unite for common pro-
tection against the cruelties that were being perpetrated. These
men, Arnold von Melchtal, Werner Stauffacher, and Walter
Fiirst from the cantons of Unterwalden, Schwyz, and Uri respec-
tively, signed a pact to protect each other and revolt against the
Austrians, forming a republic of their own. This is as far as
Schiller carries the story of the Swiss federation. Historically,
this legend is not at all true,”” but it is the story which gives us
the significance of the name Griitli, and that is all that is neces-
sary to this immediate work. As a myth, it lives in the hearts of
the Swiss and to them means, the place where their own land
was first brought into rightful being. And so, when these few
Swiss families first gathered in the land where they were to form
a “new Switzerland" it seems no more than natural that they
should take the name which to them was a symbol of their union
and future growth. The song, “Das Griitli” or “Das Riitli”, well
expresses those feelings; they must have been sung it often their
meetings, so I give the text [and music] below.?

In the Protokol der Gemeinde Switzerland,” we find the first
meeting of the people expressing this same feeling of union.
The following is the record of the first part of the meeting; the
German text is in appendix B:

" In the introduction to his edition of Wilhelm Tell, Mr. Breull gives a
short summary of the historical founding of the Swiss Republic.

% [The name Laager, which is now also connected with the area, has a
more earthy origin. It is an adaptation to English spelling of the Ger-
man Lager, meaning deposit, and appears on the 1872 map in the ex-
pression Kohlen Lager, coal deposit, over the area now called Laager.
Ed.]

% This manuscript I obtained from Mr. Chris Schild. It contains the
records of the Gruetli church including births, deaths, confirma-
tions, marriages, etc. The first 23 pages are the story of the found-
ing of the colony. There is no signature, so the writer of the Pro-
tokol is unknown. It is all written in German script. [Any informa-
tion on its whereabouts now, 2003, would be much appreciated.
Ed.]

36



Founding of the Community

For the dedication of Gruetli, the Swiss who had set-
tled in this area came together on the afternoon of Sunday,
April 11, [1869]. The speaker took this name from a place
so significant for Swiss history. He drew attention to how
small was the number of those sworn comrades who gath-
ered more than 550 years ago on this quiet mountain mead-
ow and yet how great were the blessing and happiness that
sprang from that meeting. Austria’s power had to fall sac-
rifice to their true holding together. Life and property have
we risked through centuries for the noble cause of the Free-
dom our brothers in our fatherland now enjoy.

Now it is our turn to found a Swiss colony and to as-
sure its prosperity. Not with powder and shot shall we at-
tain the goal; rather before the peaceful weapon of the
farmer will fall the giants of the forest. Yet are unity,
courage, and endurance necessary; a genuine social and
democratic sense must inspire us; unselfish perception and
action must pervade us in order to reach our goal, to ad-
vance and preserve the colony. Unity and good faith must
prevail in our meetings. Then will the almighty Ruler not
refuse success to our efforts; blessings and health will grow
also from this Gruetli, and we will become useful citizens
of our adoptive fatherland.

The meeting was finished mit einem Hoch for the General
Consul Hitz, who had helped them with the founding of the Col-
ony, and with the singing of the song Das Griitli. This pep-meet-
ing (as we might now call it) seems almost pitiful. All of these
poor, homesick people were so horribly disappointed in the land
that they had found, that they hardly knew which way to turn.
They had been taken into a wilderness where they had expected
a "land flowing with milk and honey." The Broschiiren had mis-
led them, for no place in the world could have had the many at-
tractions that had been claimed for East Tennessee. But they
were here and had no money with which to return so the best
was made of the predicament.
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“Das Riitli,” the complete words and music arranged for male
chorus. From Das Riitli, ein Liederbuch fiir Mdinnergesang, 26™
unchanged printing, J.J. Sonderegger, St. Gallen, 1888, In the
possession of the University of Maryland library. The two up-
per voices are written an octave above where they should sound.
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Das Griitli

Von ferne sei herzlich gegriisset,
Du stilles Gelende am See,

Wo spielend die Welle zerfliesset,
Genihret von ewigem Schnee,

Gepriessen sei, friedliche Stitte,
Gegriisset, du heiliges Land,

Wo sprengten der Sklaverei Kette
Die Viter mit méachtiger Hand.

Da blickten, in néchtlicher Stille,
Sie klagend auf Vaterlands Noth,
Und sahen, wie Jammer die Fille
Vollbringe der Wilkiir Gebot.

Hier standen die Viter zusamen,
Fiir Freiheit und heimisches Gut
Und schwuren beim heiligsten Namen,
Zu stiirzen die Zwingherrenbrut.

Und Gott der Allgutige genickte
Gedeihen zum heiligen Schwur;
Sein Arm die Tyrannen erdriickte,
Und frei war die heimische Flur.

Drum, Griitli, sei freundlich gegriisset;
Dein Name wird nimmer vergeh’n,

So lange der Rhein uns noch fliesset,
So lange die Alpen besteh’n.

J. Krauer
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The Gruetli Song

Our hearts greet thee from far away,
Thou quiet seaside meadow

Where the lapping waves that gently play
Are fed by eternal snow.

Be treasured, thou quiet and peaceful plain,
Be greeted, holy land

Where fathers slavery’s heavy chain

Broke with mighty hand.

There, in the silent still of night,
They saw the Fatherland

Lie in pain and distressful plight
Under a ruthless hand.

For freedom and for home of yore
Together our fathers stood

By the holiest names in secret they swore
To topple the tyrant’s brood.

And God the all good in his mercy did grant
Success to the holy band.

It crushed with its arm the cruel tyrant

And freed the Swiss homeland.

So Griitli, thy fame forever grows,

Your name will never die

So long as the Rhein to the sea still flows,
So long as the Alps stand high.
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I shall go back a little to trace the first settlers on their trip
over and their arrival. I have not been able to find the exact date
on which the first party came nor who was in this first party, but
it was probably in the very early spring of 1869. According to
the Protokol records the first meeting was on April 11, 1869,
and from the contents this seems to be right after their arrival.
All records of those who made up this group seem to have been
lost and there is no one living who knows. On September 11,
1869, a group of three families sailed from Havre on the Cem-
bria and after 10 days and 21 hours, they landed in New York.
The three families were the Amachers, the Reufs, and the
Schilds. One of the sons, Peter, in the Schild family was then
only 14 years old, and at present is the only one of the original
settlers who is living. I have talked with him, and he has been
very helpful and kind in giving me any information that he could
obtain. He says that their group was the first of the settlers, but
this is impossible since the records date back five months before
that. Mr. Emil Rychen, a son of one of the settlers, told me that
the settlers came over in sailing vessels, but this seems to be
contradicted by Mr. Peter Schild and also by Mr. Martin
Marugg, who both came over in steamboats and claim that very
few sailing vessels were in use at that time. This little group
landed in New York (as did many emigrant family groups) and
traveled from there to Chattanooga by train. They arrived in
Chattanooga in the evening and spent the night there, leaving
early the next morning by train for McMinnville. There they
hired teams and wagons and set out immediately for Cumber-
land Mountain. They came up the valley to Collins River in
Warren County and there met Consul Hitz who went with them
up the mountain. When they arrived at the site of their future
homes there was nothing to be seen except timberland and one
crude cabin which was to house all three families until they
could build their own homes. Their disappointment was, of
course, keen.

The immediate task of providing shelter was solved by cut-
ting timber and building log cabins. Only two of these remain
today and they are the ones built by the family of Peter Schild.
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They are now used as tool houses and the family lives in a frame
house.

The early life in the colony, and the trials which they en-
dured are told in the written records of the church, a book now
[1933] in the hands of Mr. Chris Schild. I believe the best way
to present these facts is to reproduce this historically valuable
document in full. I have given the first page above, where I told
of how the settlement came to be called Griitli. [The original
text appears in Appendix B. A translation by the editor follows
here. His comments are in square brackets. ]

On the 2™ of May (1869), the draft of the statutes was
accepted and the following officers elected:

Heinrich Schwarz of Gruetli, President
Rudolf Wegelin of Beersheba Springs, Vice President
Jakob Schneider of Long’s Mill, Secretary.

This meeting was attended by Eugen [the text reads
“Emil”] Pliimacher, whom the Swiss emigration office had
selected as director of the colony, since the project began
from him. He reported on difficulties his project still faced.
He indicated that still no share certificates were available;
on the other hand, however, we would soon have help. He
asked the colonists for patience and promised to do his ut-
most for the quick resolution of the colony’s organization
(Colonieangelegenheiten).

[Pliimacher seems to have made virtually no prepara-
tion for the arrival of the colonists. In particular, the land
had not been acquired by an organization prepared to con-
vey it to the colonists, much less surveyed and divided into
lots. Consequently, the colonists were unable to get to
work at once clearing landing, building homes, and plant-
ing, because they did not know where their land would
eventually be. Ed.]
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On May 31, the term of the contract between Col.
Hughes and Mr. Pliimacher came to an end. According to
this contract, by this date there should have been 30 fami-
lies settled on the colony’s land. The Gruetli Union took
notice that Col. Hughes was no longer willing to abide by
the contract, since Pliimacher had in no way fulfilled his
obligations. This news moved the Union, in its meeting of
June 6, to send a request for help to our Consulate General.
The request had the desired result: to our meeting on July 4
came two officials of our Consulate General, Mr. Wermuth
and Mr. Peter Staub, accompanied by Col. Hughes, to in-
vestigate this situation. In order to make a conscientious
report to the Swiss State Council, Mr. Wermuth, First Sec-
retary of the Consulate, wished to hear feelings and wishes
from the mouth of each and everyone.

All declared that the climate and situation (Lage) suit-
ed them well and that they believed it would be possible to
establish here their own free existence. Everyone wished
that the Colony should be formally organized (zu Stande
Kommen) quickly, so as to be able to start work.

Col. Hughes declared himself ready to conclude a new
contract with the colonists; and, thanks to the diligent ef-
forts of the two officials, it was possible to achieve a con-
tract very favorable for the colonists.

According to this contract, all 50-acre lots [adjacent]
to the street would be restored and each colonist would get
the right to purchase off-street lots for 1 dollar per acre.
[Precisely what this sentence means is not totally clear to
the translator. Most lots in the 1873 map had 100 acres, but
there are a few 50-acre lots in the neighborhood marked
“Gruetli” on this map. Probably, the only functioning street
was in this neighborhood and is “the street” referred to.
Perhaps on the basis of previous payments to Pliimacher,
some colonists had been assigned land in this area and had
gone to work clearing ground or building a house. If so, the
sentence would mean that, although Hughes considered his
contract with Pliimacher null and void, he was willing to
recognize the rights of these colonists to stay on these lots.
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Ed.] This change caused a new delay because the land in
question belonged to different owners, not all of whom
were happy with the reduced price. After many-sided ef-
forts, it was finally possible to set the date for the first allot-
ting of land for August 16. On this day, Mr. Bouldin and
Mr. Hill, the most significant providers of land, were
present.

Minutes of the Community meeting of 16 August
(1869) in Gruetli. The meeting began at 10 o’clock in the
morning. The minutes of the meeting of the Gruetli union
of 6 June, 4 and 18 July were read and unanimously ap-
proved. The president reported on the course of affairs of
the colony. The board of the Union proposed that the com-
munity should constitute itself today, and elect officers
who, henceforth, would execute the decisions.

As today’s agenda, the board proposed:

1. Decision relative to taking possession of the land and its
allocation today.

2. Recognition of those entitled to participate in the alloca-
tion.

3. Choice of a board from among those so recognized.

4. Conclusion of a contract for surveying with Engineer
Baur.

5. Payment of the survey costs.
6. Drawing of the lots

7. Decision relative to catching up on the mandatory labor
[Frohndienst-- unpaid labor required by the community
for public works. Ed. |

8. Unforeseen matters.

The agenda were declared appropriate. Relative to
taking possession of the land, there was read the copy of
the message of July 10, from Mr. Wermuth [then] in
Knoxville to the Consulate General. According to this mes-
sage, no lands other than those provided by Mr. Bouldin
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were available. However, agreement with the contract on
the one hand and expressions of satisfaction from both Hill
and Bouldin (who were present) on the other led to the de-
cision to proceed with the definitive taking possession of
the land and — to the satisfaction of the citizens -- to its al-
location today.

The allocation plan showed that, after subtraction of
the school land and the streets, 48 lots were available, and it
was immediately decided that everyone should come to the
allocation. There were 52 who wanted to participate [in-
cluding 11 absentees], so 4 who were absent had to be re-
fused participation. There were therefore 48 citizens enti-
tled to participate in the drawing, whose names will appear
with their lot numbers below. On the recommendation of
Mr. Baur, the selection of the board was delayed awaiting
the arrival of the representative of the Consulate General.

The contract between Mr. Baur®® and the board in the
name of the Community for measurement and division [of
the land] was read and approved. Relative to covering the
costs of this survey, it was decided: (a) to accept the re-
ceipts made out by Pliimacher in place of payment, unless
they were declared invalid by the Consulate, and (b) anyone
not having such a receipt who wished to participate in to-
day’s allocation should immediately pay 4 dollars towards
the survey costs. The remaining sum of 11 dollars [per lot],
should be paid to Mr. Baur within a month of completion of
the survey, which should be finished before the end of No-
vember. In case of non-payment, ownership of the lot in
question would revert to the Community.

% [The 1872 map is signed “J. U. Baur, Ing.” There can thus be little
doubt that the surveyor is the same as the settler, Johannes Ulrich
Bauer from Zurich, who got lot 26 in the original drawing but had
traded it for lot 94 by 1872 when the map was made. Lot 94 is where
the store was, so we may safely deduce that the engineer is the same
man as the J. U. Bauer, storekeeper, who was murdered, as we find in
chapter 4, on November 30, 1874. He seems to have spelled his name
indifferently “Baur” and “Bauer”; I have used Baur consistently in the
English and kept whatever spelling the original uses in the German.
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The bridge of Colony Road over Ranger Creek, built in the
earliest days of the Colony, presumably by mandatory labor.
This picture is from the Jackson thesis. The upstream side of
the bridge, visible from the new bridge, has been modified, but
the downstream side shows the Swiss original, as shown in the
modern picture on the back cover.

Relative to catching up on mandatory labor, it was de-
cided that anyone who took possession of his lot by 1 No-
vember (1869) and declared himself ready as of that mo-
ment to make up the labor should be allowed to do so.
Those coming later, however, will have to pay 1 dollar per
day [of labor] to have the work done for daily wages or on
a piecework basis.

Those absent, to whom it had not been possible to give
notice of today’s allocation, were to be informed in writing
and allowed to draw lots. They would then be allowed one
month to make the first payment on the survey costs and to
declare whether they would perform or pay for the manda-
tory labor.

On general demand, there was then a break until 2 o’-
clock.
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The meeting came together in the afternoon with the
depositing of the receipts from Pliimacher and the payment
of the $4 towards survey costs, as decided in the morning.
17 citizens deposited receipts, 24 paid $4, and to 7 absen-
tees, the above conditions applied.

The drawing took place with all order and decorum
and gave the following result:

6 Leonhard von Rohr, exchanged with Carl Ruodin for
No. 7
4 Caspar Fuchs — withdrawn from the community —
now Anton Rockers
3 Jakob Lanz
14 Leon Stocker
16 Heinrich Lanz
12 Benedikt Studer
1 Jakob Fehr
24 Anton Heuggeller, sold to John Bahnholzer
5 Joseph Stocker, the elder
13 Caspar Schild
2 Rudolph Wegelin
30 John Stauffer, exchanged for No. 54
9 Conrad Bolli
38 Joseph Burri
39 Anton Stocker
19 Ulrich Weiss
18 Heinrich Schwarz of Long’s Mill
8 Georg Schwarz of Long’s Mill
21 Samuel Miiller — now Mischen
10 Melchior Thény
36 Hch. Bertschinger
31 August Werdmiiller
34 Peter Kissling
23 Jakob Schneider
17 Carl Zehnter, now J. Heller
11 Joh. Rychen
28 Joseph Stocker
22 Jakob Bollinger
20 Heinrich Egli
32 Heinrich Wagner
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33 Joh. Kissling
25 Caspar Holzhauer, now Joh. Bahnholzer
26 J.U. Baur -- now Joh. Bahnholzer
15 Christian Hofstetter
7 Carl Stuodin [Ruodin?], exchanged with
Leonhard von Rohr for 6
35 Joh. Baumgartner
27 Jakob Fruttiger
37 Friedrich Seidel, sold to Hch. Bertschinger
29 Hch. Schwarz, the elder
50 Friedrich Born
46 Jakob Zurcher
42 Albert Grauicher
41 Jakob Seier
43 Jakob Kiilling
45 Peter Schild
40 Jakob Schwarz
44 Zimmerli Concurati

[The list mentions 47, not 48, lots. Ed.] After the
drawing for the lots, there was a happy festivity with
“Hoch!” resounding for our esteemed Consul General Hitz
and for Consuls Staub and Wermuth, as well as for the land
providers, Bouldin and Hill in Altamont and Mr. Hughes in
McMinnville. Dismissal of the community.

[Additional land seems to have become available and a
further drawing conducted at a date not recorded. We have
only the result. £d.] Index of the owners in the second dis-
trict:

46 Joh. Zurcher

51 Friedrich Fawer
52 Carl Fawer

53 Christian Héberli
54 Melchior Zwald
55 Alcide Faigoux
56 Carl Stucki

57 Caspar Zopfi

58 C. Hohliger

59 Jb. Seier
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59
60
61
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
77
77
81
82

Christian Ruf

Christ. Amacher
Caspar Kreis

J. Rottach

Heinrich Scharrer
J.Vogt

N. Werdmiiller
Heinrich Werdmiller
Fried. Miiller
Friedrich Born
Joseph Fluri

Fried. Kneubiihl
Melchior Jnidbnet
Jakob Mider

Joh. Scholer

J. Amstutz

Ulrich Zimmermann
Eduard Berger

the Huggenberger brothers
Fritz von Gunten
Wermuth, Chancellor of the Consulate General
Consul Staub

Minutes of September 9 in Gruetli. At the wish of

Consul General Hitz and Consul Staub, the community was
assembled outside the regular schedule to handle the fol-
lowing matters:

1) Constituting the community

2) Draft of a community constitution

3) Election of the leadership

4) Report of Consul General Hitz relative

to the conditions and safeguarding of the Colony’s land.
The Colony constituted itself as a political unit encompass-
ing an area of 9090 acres and asked Consul Hitz to draft
community rules according to the below-stated purpose,
and to attend to incorporation.

Purpose: The community Switzerland, Grundy

County, Tennessee, intends, within the framework of the
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constitution of the United States and the state laws of Ten-
nessee and the ordinances of Grundy County, to promote,
according to its ability, religious, moral, educational and
cultural purposes as well as through cooperative efforts to
insure the spiritual and material welfare of those settled in
its area.

On the suggestion of the Consulate, the elections were
conducted in a democratic manner. Every ten lot owners
(or fraction thereof) should elect a member of the Commu-
nity Council. On the suggestion of the Community Council,
and executive board of three members was selected.

Election of the Community Council

District 1 Lots 1-10 Georg Schwarz
District 2 Lots 11-20 Heinrich Egli

District 3 Lots 21-30 Jacob Schneider
District 4 Lots 31-40 Heinrich Bertschinger

The Community Council proposed as officers:
President Heinrich Schwarz
Secretary Rudolph Wegelin
Treasurer Jakob Schneider

Schwarz thanked the Council warmly but asked to be let off
for substantive reasons.

Results of the election. With a large majority there were
elected:

President Joh. Kissling
Secretary Rudolph Wegelin
Treasurer Ant. Stocker

Consul Hitz now reported separately on the state of the
Colony’s affairs. He declared the lands in every respect as-
sured except in a formal aspect as well as there being some
significant changes in the conditions of payment.

Of donated land there was no longer any talk, but ev-
ery citizen now got a 100 acre lot for $50. The period of
payment could be extended only one year; by September 1,
1870, all lots should have been paid for, without, however,
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compensation for interest. Mr. [Peter] Staub was designat-
ed Trustee and was willing to take care of this difficult
business. On the other hand, it was expected that the
colonists would do their utmost to ease his task. The Con-
sul’s concluding word was to recall to us, in an emotion-
filled voice, the last words of the dying Attinghausen: “Be
united! United!” [Seid einig! Einig! — from Friedrich
Schiller, Wilhelm Tell, Act 4 Scene 2, line 2451.]

The evening had begun, and bright bonfires were lit.
The chorus gave the most respected Consul a greeting in
song, including in its object his elderly mother. “To the
worthy representative of our dear Fatherland,” began the
speaker, “whose call resounds to relieve the suffering at
home, whose help and material support those Swiss enjoy
who seek their adoptive fatherland in America!” Only to
him, emphasized the speaker, is due also the happy solution
of the affairs of this colony. He has made great sacrifices
of time and money for us. “We owe him the most heartfelt
thanks, thanks that we cannot express. Our thankfulness
must show itself in deeds. Let us unselfishly care for the
seed entrusted to us. The difficulties which a new settle-
ment must bear are not yet overcome. Unity, courage, and
perseverance are necessary to reach the goal; true pulling
together will lighten our burdens and advance our cause.
This offering of thanks joyfully greets our Consul General.
May he accept it as a token of our gratitude for his great ef-
forts. Make known your agreement in sounding forth your
Hoch to the worthy representative of our dear Fatherland,
Consul General John Hitz.” [Hoch literally means “high,”
but is used to cheer and to express strong approval of
someone. “Er lebe hoch” means roughly “May he live well,
happily, and prosperously!”]

Er lebe Hoch! Hoch! Hoch! Song: Er lebe Hoch.

With the voice of one deeply moved, the Consul ex-
pressed his thanks for the honor done him, but passed these
honors on to the government of which he was the servant.
He congratulated a people so far advanced in republican de-
velopment as our dear Swiss fatherland. Though his salary
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may be much lower than that of a representative of a
monarchy, he considered himself fortunate to be the repre-
sentative of the European republic, representative of a peo-
ple whose highest power was the power of people. His
“Hoch” was to the fatherland, to its free government, as
well as to all true and worthy Swiss, both here and there.
“Hoch! Hoch! Hoch!” [In 1869, Switzerland was indeed
the European republic; France, formerly a republic, was an
empire under Napoleon III.]

The third “Hoch” was for Consul Staub, to thank him
for his many sacrifices for the colony. A heavy rain
brought the happy festivity to an end and sent the partici-
pants home.

Minutes of October 25 in Gruetli. Subjects:

1) Decision relative to the performance of street
works.

2)  Building a schoolhouse
3) Community constitution
4)  Name of the City.

1) The Community Council moved that Mr. Baur be
released as road master and that the Council itself would di-
rect the necessary works. Motion accepted. The Council
was given the charge to finish the bridges in Gruetli.

2) Relative to the schoolhouse, it was decided that
Council should have until the end of year to make plans and
cost calculations. To get the necessary funds, it should
have the City land measured out and hold an auction. The
name Bern was confirmed for the City.*!

31 “The City” refers to parcel of land, originally 200 acres but later en-
larged to 600 or 700 acres, where it was hoped a city would develop.
Ownership of this land was originally entrusted to the community with
the provision that the proceeds from its sale should go towards school
and church buildings. Jacob Suter believes that this area was around the
Schild store and the stagecoach inn, which still stands, the area marked
Gruetli on the 1872 map. For reasons seen below, I think it may have
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The Community constitution sent by Mr. Wermuth
was accepted and the Board asked to take care of incorpora-
tion, and the Community was given the name Switzerland.
To help newly arrived settlers, it was decided to build two
block houses, in so far as the credit could be raised [erke-
blich sei, here translated “could be raised,” would normally
mean “was considerable” but here the more literal transla-
tion seems to make better sense.] Finally, every lot owner
was allowed to cut wood in the streets, but the stumps left
should not be more than one foot high. Meeting adjourned.

Community meeting 31 December 1869 in the lot of

Councilman Schneider. The president opened the
meeting and proposed the following agenda:

1) Reading and ratification of the minutes of 9 August and
25 October in Gruetli.

2) Motion of the Council relative to the building of a
schoolhouse in the city Bern.

3) Establishment of the sale price of future 100 acre lots.
4) Motion relative to the auction of the City lots.
5) Motion for the establishment of a cemetery.

6) Transfer of the plans of the first 5000 acres to the com-
munity. Notice relative to the end of the survey and pay-
ment of the costs.

7) Election of the city council and officers.
8) Unforeseen matters.

[1)] The minutes of September 9 were read and accept-
ed without change. Those of October 25 were emended to
make clear that the Council was responsible for leadership
in the matter of work on the streets.

[2)] In accord with the Community decision on Octo-
ber 25 relative to the schoolhouse, the Council moved as
follows: There should be built on the place chosen in the

been the large undivided area on which the Swiss Memorial School
now stands. Ed.]
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city a proper frame house, 30 feet long, 24 feet wide, and
1% stories high. There should be a 14 day period for turn-
ing in sealed bids for the construction of the entire building.
The management should then be given the right to award
the contract to the lowest bidder without further ratification
by the community

Heinrich Schwarz wished and moved that the con-
struction competition should be open for us. He placed his
trust in the citizens that, through volunteer labor the wood
would be felled and hauled to the site, thereby sparing con-
siderable expense. If that were not possible, then the au-
thorities should have full power to execute their plan, and
that without delay, since the need for the school house was
pressing. Decision: The Council and officers were charged
to clear a part of the land designated for the school and to
open an access street with volunteer labor. For the con-
struction of the school, they were to open a competition and
without further ratification by the Community to award the
contract to the lowest bidder. Should the first-named works
not be done by voluntary effort, then funds are authorized
for them also.

3) The president informed the community that Consul
Staub had recently purchased 5000 acres of land, and he
[the president] wished that the Community determine the
sale price, paying attention to some compensation to Con-
sul Staub for the trouble and sacrifices connected with these
transactions. He pointed to the Consul’s magnanimous
treatment of us, up to this point without compensation. Jb.
Hehr moved that it be left absolutely to Mr. Staub to deter-
mine the sale price. He could not find it appropriate to de-
termine a compensation; the Consul’s work could never be
equated with that a laborer.

The president feared that proceeding in that way might
lead to Consul Staub being regarded as a land speculator in
certain quarters, something he did not want happening in
the Swiss colony, since we are all convinced that such is
not the case. Indeed, it was the Consul’s wish that the
community should determine the price. Hch. Schwarz sup-
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ported the motion of Hehr because presently much dissen-
sion has arisen because surveyor and agent functioned in
one person. Mr. Staub works as Consul, and it is a boon
granted to the Colonists if the prices do not rise all too

sharply.
Decision: Consul Staub should be warmly thanked for

his magnanimous way of dealing with us, and the price for
further sales should be left totally to him.

4) On the subject of the auction of the City lot, the
community council moved to survey a number of lots near
the schoolhouse and to bring them to auction. Mr.
Bertschinger reported for the council: For the execution of
the decision of the community, the council had turned to
Engineer Baur and received from him a plan that divided
all 200 acres into half-acre lots and laid out straight streets.
An investigation had shown that this plan was too expen-
sive. Baur wanted 20 [dollars] for the plan plus one dollar
for each lot surveyed, and thus $400 for the project. This
demand had caused the Council to postpone this matter.
Hch. Schwarz found the demand exaggerated, thanked the
Council for the delay, and believed that this work could be
done without the engineer at a low cost. He thought that to
limit the division to four acre lots -- except in the most fa-
vorable places -- would to the advantage of any buyer.

Decision: The Council and Board were charged to con-
duct the division into lots according to this last proposal
and order an auction.

5) The Council and Board moved that an appropriate
place for a cemetery be prepared, and it was decided that,
since lot number 21 had reverted to the community and the
ground and location was appropriate, on resale about 10
acres in the back behind the street and up to brow of the
mountain should be reserved. To keep down costs, only
one acre would initially be cleared and fenced in.*

32 This is not at all where the current cemetery is. The German says
“gekldrt und eingefenst,” both words being Germanized English.
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6) There were many complaints about the surveying of
the first 5000 acres. Boundary lines were inadequately or
faulty drawn and some lots were incorrectly located. It was
decided as follows: Owners of 100 acre lots would be given
a month to investigate their boundary lines. If, during this
period, no written complaints were to be made to the Coun-
cil, it would be assumed that the boundaries were satisfac-
tory and the Board charged to pay the survey costs.

7) The new elections, carried out according to the pro-
vision of the constitution for [annual] elections, gave the
following result for Community Council by district:

1. Jakob Lanz

2. J.U. Weiss

3. Jb. Schneider, who declined and in whose place
Mr. Bahnholzer was chosen on January 17.

4. Heinrich Bertschinger

5. Carl Zehnter

As members of the Board there were nominated:

For President: ~ John Kissling and Jb. Hehr
for Secretary: ~ Rudolph Wegelin and Hch. Schwarz
for Treasurer:  Anton Stocker and Joh. Baumgartner

Results of the election:

For President: votes cast, 31; absolute majority, 16;
Mr. Kissling, 29; Hehr, 1; invalid 1. Mr. Kissling thanked
the community for its trust, and accepted with the wish that
the Community may have a happy and peaceful develop-
ment.

Treasurer: votes cast, 28; absolute majority 15; votes
received: Stocker 17, Baumgartner 9, Bertschinger 2. Mr.
Stocker elected.

Secretary: votes cast, 31; absolute majority 16; votes
received: Wegelin 3, Bertschinger 2, Hch. Schwarz 26.

Under article 8 of the day’s agenda [Unforeseen mat-
ters], Jb. Hehr informed the citizens that he had been ap-
pointed road master by the Court in Altamont, and he asked
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that all citizens between the ages of 20 and 65 appear for
mandatory labor [Frohndienst] on the first Thursday in Jan-
uary. Anyone refusing he would immediately turn over to
the Court.

Hch. Schwarz protested against such a procedure. The
construction of the streets should first be presented to the
citizens for approval. He earnestly emphasized that this de-
cision of the Court was a response to the petition of only a
few citizens; he believed that if the Community sought a
delay it would be gladly granted. Improvement of the
streets is necessary, but one must not overburden the
colonists. Without prior knowledge of the citizens, one
should definitely not build roads. Schwarz from Long’s
Mill also complained of so much mandatory labor; during
1869, he and his brother had done 36 days of mandatory la-
bor. He earnestly emphasized that if such harsh measures
were taken, he would again leave the mountain. The com-
munity asked the Board to request a postponement from the
Court in Altamont; and, if it is received, to then prepare a
street plan and to present it to the community for approval.

Finally, the president read a letter from Consul Staub
about the sad condition of the family Lager from Glarus,
and the citizens were advised that they could make volun-
tary contributions, payable to the Treasurer, to help the con-
sulate alleviate the suffering of this family. Meeting ad-
journed.

Special meeting of the Community, February 7, 1870.
In consequence of the disputes that had arisen between the
owners in the first and those in the second complexes, espe-
cially those of the two city complexes and the adjoining
street systems, Consul Staub called together a commission
to work out a peaceful solution. This commission consisted
of Engineer Baur, Jakob Hehr, and Edward Berger on the
one side and President Kissling, Bertschinger, and Schwarz
on the other. Consul Staub was named chairman. The fol-
lowing were the principal issues:
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1. Should the constitution drafted by Consul Staub and
accepted by the citizens last October 25 remain in effect or
be declared invalid?

2. In what way can a peaceful solution of the affairs of
the City be achieved?

3. Is it not in the interest of the population to divide
the settlement into two school and street districts, each en-
joying equal rights in the use of the City complexes?

After long and vehement discussion, the Commission
came to a unanimous proposal as follows:

I. The constitution should be changed only as neces-
sary to allow incorporation, and Consul Staub was asked to
take over that task.

II. a) The two previous City complexes should be
united, abutting on that [already] laid out in the second
complex, with annexation of the parallel 100 acre lots des-
ignated No. 45, 46, 43, and 44, so that the whole complex
would total 600 acres.*

b) 25 to 30 acres in the center of this complex
should, for the time being, be reserved for public buildings.
The sale of City lots should begin on either side of this
area.

c) The street system inside the City is to be left to
the inhabitants thereof.

d) Proceeds from the sale of the City lot can, ac-
cording to the stipulations of the donor, be used only for
church and school purposes.

e) The name Bern, attached to the first complex, is
reaffirmed.

33 [These lot numbers are missing from the 1872 plan; the general se-
quence of the numbers, however, suggests that they may have been in
the large, undivided rectangle on which the Swiss Memorial School
now stands. This area, then, rather than the area around the stagecoach
inn, may be where the City was to be.]
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IIT In view of its wide area and rapid development, the
Community should divide itself into two school districts
which should share equally in the proceeds from the [sale]
of the City lot for school and church. For the construction
of the first school houses, a credit of 200 dollars should be
granted to each district.

IV Each school community should assume the con-
struction and maintenance of the streets and bridges neces-
sary in its area, as well as that of county roads that run
through it.

V A contract is to be concluded with Engineer Baur
for the survey of the City lands.

VI The survey of the first 5000 acres is to be accepted.

VII A meeting should be called for February 7 to ratify
or reject this proposal.

Minutes of the meeting of February 7, 1870.
Agenda:

1) Reading and approval of the minutes of the com-
munity meeting of December 31, 1869.

2) Approval or rejection of the above-described Com-
mission proposal.

3) Ratification of the agreement with Mr. Ziircher con-
cerning his 100 acre lot No. 46, on which he has already
built.

4) Ratification of the contract with Engineer Baur.

The president opened the meeting with a brief but
earnest introduction. He pointed to the disputes and mutual
misunderstandings which had arisen, and he urged the citi-
zens to give the utmost attention to the important matters
before the meeting today. With the noble wife of Werner
Stauffacher, he called to the citizens especially today, “Oh
Werner, look not back, but to the future.” [Schiller, Wil-
helm Tell, Act 1, Scene 2, line 525.] He hoped that the
parting words of our most esteemed Consul General were
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engraved in most hearts: Be united! United! “Only unity
assures our continued existence, only unity advances our
prosperity, only a pure democratic sense leads us to the

goal. With these few words, I declare this meeting open.”

The minutes of the meeting of December 31 were read
and unanimously approved.

The above Commission proposal was read and the rea-
sons behind it explained by Mr. Schwarz on behalf of the
commission. The report was supported by Mr. Eduard
Berger.

Messrs. Schneider and Bollinger believe the owners of
the 100 acre lots in the first complex to be disadvantaged.
They wished especially that the so-called Poplar Spring be
kept free and open.

This wish also Consul Staub, in a way most gracious
way, was able to fulfill. He would sell the 200 acres in
question for 130 dollars, his cost of purchase plus survey,
to the first school community for subdivision in small com-
plexes. The two concerned members declared themselves
satisfied and recommended approval of the commission’s
proposal, which, without further discussion was unani-
mously approved.

Until incorporation of the constitution, it was further
decided to choose a commission of five members, com-
posed of the president, vice-president, treasurer, secretary,
and one owner with the charge to advance the welfare of
the community according to its means in every connection
through the sale of the City lot as soon as possible and also
seek means to get the school construction underway.

With a majority approaching unanimity, the following
members of the commission were chosen: President, Mr.
Kissling; vice president, Eduard Berger; treasurer, Anton
Stocker; secretary, Hch. Schwarz; fifth member, Ulrich
Zimmermann.

A discussion with Engineer Baur yielded the following
result. With the exception of the part reserved for public
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buildings (where, for the time being, he would just indicate
the roads), he would undertake to lay out the whole com-
plex in one acre lots, mark each with four corner stakes and
two middle stakes, post the number on each lot, and lay out
the streets. He only asked that upon completion of the
work, it should be examined, and, if satisfactory, be de-
clared accepted. He also presented a plan to the Communi-
ty. For the conduct of this work he asked $250, $100 after
the first auction of lots and $150 after a year. In this
amount are included all survey costs already due in both
City complexes.

This contract was agreed upon and Mr. Baur asked to
survey a number of lots as quickly as possible.

Mr. Ziircher [owner of Lot 46 which the Community
wanted to include in the City] asked to keep the 20 acres
that lie along the western side of his 100 acre lot and on
which he had already built a house in consideration of the
15 dollars he had already paid for survey cost. The remain-
ing 80 acres he was prepared to sell to the Community for
$50, the amount he had originally paid for the whole lot.

The citizens found this offer cheap and accepted the
deal unanimously. The 200 acres by which the City would
be expanded would be shared equally between the two
sides, and the Board was asked to present to the community
on July 4 a proposal for covering the questionable deficit.
The first community designated four acres as school land
on the north of the City; and the second community, four
acres on the south.

When the president asked if anyone had anything to
add, Heinrich Schwarz asked for the floor, and in a few
words, mentioned the many sacrifices which Consul Staub
had already made for the colony and which, as Trustee, he
would still have to make, the zeal with which he had again
this time striven to bring about peaceful relations. More-
over, up to this point, he had made all these sacrifices with-
out compensation, so that the colonists owed him many
thanks. Also he would take as a true sign of gratitude that
unity through which alone the colony may bloom and pros-

62



per. “Show him your recognition by joining in a mighty
Hoch. Herr Consul Staub lebe Hoch! Hoch! Hoch!

The Consul said that he enjoyed the days he was grant-
ed to spend with us. Though we lack the noble wine by
which spirits are made high on such festive occasions in
our motherland, he finds that here our souls are equally lift-
ed and made happy with spring water. “I would bring to
mind again today the words of our representative and friend
Consul General Hitz, now in Switzerland: ‘Dear fellow citi-
zens: Be united! United! United!” He has once saved this
project, and you may count on his continued care. To him I
bring my Hoch!”

“Most of you still remember how, here on this spot, he
passed on the Hoch that you brought to him to the govern-
ment of which he was the representative. I also am con-
vinced that your government at home has not forgotten you,
that it has not withdrawn its protection from you. The prej-
udices I have often heard expressed are unfounded. The
fact is that a man without means but ready for hard work
can rise better here than in the dear motherland. But one
should not suppose that your government, which has helped
you to emigrate, would, once emigrated, [not] assure you
its protection in case of need. It has, dear fellow citizens,
already done so and will continue to do so. Trusting in
your Swiss government, may you say, when danger threat-
ens, then here on this Tennessee mountain, you brothers
stand, one for all and all for one.

Also to you, dear fellow citizens, belongs recognition
for the firm will and perseverance which you have shown in
the colony project. I thank you further for the good fame
which your industry and character have brought to our fa-
therland among the local people here. Keeping trust to-
gether, feed here upon the true Swiss fodder, that is, on
pure freedom, education, song, and above all, community
life that advances spiritual development. As for the colony,
I must express my fullest satisfaction. Just remain united,
active, and persevering and you will harvest the fruits
which you are sewing. I, for my part, give you my firm as-
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surance to protect the colony as far as lies within my pow-
er. Finally, I bring my Hoch first to the Swiss government,
without which your colony would no long exist, secondly to
those dear lands and to the people living in them, and third-
ly to all true Swiss hearts, wherever they may be. To the
Swiss government, to the lands and peoples, and to all wor-
thy Swiss hearts wherever they may live! Hoch! Hoch!
Hoch!”

And so, with beautiful love for the fatherland, brothers
reached out their hands to one another; and the president,
with thanks to all, closed the meeting.

From the foregoing records and from a little reading be-
tween the lines, it is not hard to see that the settlers in Gruetli
were very largely disillusioned. This disillusionment was met,
on the part of the leaders, by repeated reminders that the hard-
ships of the Swiss on Cumberland Mountain were nothing more
than natural, that it was indeed comparable to the hardships en-
countered by their forefathers in the founding of their own Swiss
federation. And it would be hard to say what might have be-
come of the colony if it had not been for the cohesive influence
of the idealists who urged its continued unity.

Of their subsequent hardships and pleasures and their adap-
tation to American customs and to the language of their new fa-
therland, I shall speak presently. But before going further into
the story of the colony as a whole, I shall give a short summary
of several of its outstanding families.
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Addendum: Church Crises

In the church records, the passage quoted above is followed
by lists of community members, baptisms, confirmations, com-
municants, marriages, and deaths. Then, starting on page 210,
come minutes of meetings beginning in 1886 that record two se-
rious problems in the church. Curiously, Jackson makes no
mention of them.

The trouble began with a pastor, D. Neunschwander, alleged
to have made ‘“certain utterances against the community at
Gruetli” not further specified. Neunschwander seems to have
lived in Belvidere and traveled to Gruetli for his pastoral duties.
In his absence, deacons Angst and Jenni and elder Jacob
Rutschmann called a meeting of the members on June 13, 1886.
After a lengthy discussion, it was unanimously decided to re-
lieve the pastor of his duties. Since his contract had not yet ex-
pired, he was to be paid the rest of the contract whether or not he
came to Gruetli. This news was to be conveyed to the pastor by
Rutschmann.

Neunschwander did not accept this decision graciously. He
declared the meeting invalid, because only the pastor was al-
lowed to call meetings under the rules of the Indiana Classis of
which the Gruetli church was a member. (A classis is a govern-
ing board composed of ministers and lay representatives in the
Dutch, German, and Swiss Reformed Churches.) The congrega-
tion drew up a letter of withdrawal from the classis, but before it
was sent, a pastor, B. Warren, was found, who agreed to serve
for one year and persuaded the congregation to stay in the clas-
sis. The altercation with Neunschwander dragged on through
1887, with neither side admitting any impropriety. The Neun-
schwander affair was not the cause of any split within the com-
munity.

Warren seems to have been satisfactory except that his Ger-
man left something to be desired. In September 1890, following
the loss of the teacher, Rudolf Marugg, it was decided to look
for someone “equally adroit in both languages,” able to fill the
role of both pastor and teacher. Carl Nussbaum of New York
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was such a person and it was suggested that he be offered the
pastorship provided he would “familiarize himself with the Hei-
delberg Catechism and all other necessary matters” to be or-
dained in the Indiana Classis. (Nussbaum’s given name appears
variously as C. H., Carl, Charles August, and Christian August.
In 1892, he bought lot 54, formerly owned by Melchior Zwald,
at a tax sale for $10. He used the name Charles August for this
transaction.)

Now it seems that Nussbaum had been ordained in the New
York Synod but not in the Indiana Classis and that it was strong-
ly suspected that he would be unwilling to join the Indiana York
Classis and was unlikely to take kindly to the suggestion that he
be ordained in the Indiana Classis. John Kissling accurately
foresaw the results of the offer to Nussbaum and proposed that it
might be better to vote on whether to have a war between two
factions or to live in peaceful community of citizens. His advice
was not heeded, and on the vote to invite Nussbaum, 23 mem-
bers voted yes and 11 voted no.

Nussbaum preached his first sermon on Sunday, September
26, 1890, and Kissling’s prophecy began to unfold. Pastor War-
ren declared that he had nothing against the sermon, but that
Nussbaum must be ordained in the Reformed Church to serve
the congregation. Nussbaum replied that conscience would not
allow him to do so, since the canons of the Reformed Church
were not in conformity with the Heidelberg Catechism. He de-
clared the choice of the community more important than the au-
thority of a church, and that, to quote a certain Dr. Ellis, “Ordi-
nation ... does not make one a learned, wise, or good man any
more than it makes him a Christian, nor does it endow one with
the virtues of humility, moderation, chastity, or even honesty.”

The battle was joined. The majority hired Nussbaum and
withdrew from the Reformed Church. A minority of 12 families
stayed with the Reformed Church and had occasional services
with visiting pastors. They were refused the use of the school-
house, as well as the use of the hymnals and communion equip-
ment. In 1893, this minority group took the majority group to
court and won its case. They were given the hymnals and com-
munion ware by the judge and the school authorities let both
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groups use the school. Which families were in which group is
not recorded. But the admonition of Consul Hitz “Seid einig!/
Einig!” had been forgotten. Several not very authoritative
sources suggest that Nussbaum was influenced by Swedenborg.

On the morning of May 8, 1898, Alfred Riitschmann, a
young man in his early 20’s, was shot while sitting in the
kitchen of the Anton Stocker house (then owned by the Nuss-
baums) preparing a Sunday school lesson. The murder was nev-
er solved, but local suspicion thought it not unconnected with
the fact that Alfred’s father had delivered to Neunschwander the
news of his ouster. * Ed

* David E. Clayton, The Forgotten Colony, 1971, unpublished. Clay-
ton cites a conversation in 1969 with Rosemarie Stampfli for this story.
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Chapter 3. Some Prominent Families

The name Schild is likely to be the first one heard today on
the mountain in connection with the colony. This is probably
because the family has remained there, whereas most others
have taken the first opportunity to move elsewhere. As I have
mentioned before, the forebears of this family came over in Sep-
tember, 1869. In that original group was John Schild (b. ca.
1802 and his sons Peter (1830 — 1912) and Kaspar (1833-1905).
Peter was accompanied by his wife, Margarita Ruef, and seven
children. The oldest of the children was Peter Jr. (1854-1937)
who today (1933) has the distinction of being the only surviving
"original settler" of the colony still living in Gruetli. He is now
known on the mountain as "Uncle Pete." Young Peter's broth-
ers and sisters were Margaretha (b. 1856), John (1858 — 1921),
John Henry (1862- 1943), Elizabeth (1864 — 1946), Rudolph
(1866- 1928), and Willie (1868 — 1903). Peter was fourteen
years old when his family came over, so he remembers the trip
and arrival quite well. When grown, he married Rosa
Leuzinger, and they had two daughters, Fannie and Margaret.
Fannie is now living in Gruetli with her parents and helping
them manage the farm. Uncle Pete, although now nearly eighty
years of age, is still active and works out on the farm every day.
He says he doesn't want to stop working because he is afraid if
he misses a day, he won't be able to go out the next day. He
speaks Swiss (Schwyzerdeutsch), High German, and English,
but seems to prefer English when speaking to Americans. He is
always eager to talk about the colony in its early days, and the
accuracy with which he remembers details is remarkable.

Elizabeth (1864 — 1926), sister of Uncle Pete, married Mar-
tin Marugg of Tracy City who will be mentioned under the
Marugg family. Another brother, John (1858 — 1921), married
Barbara Marugg, sister of Martin,, and they brought up a large
family which has figured prominently in Gruetli life. Their chil-
dren are John (1886-1954), Chris (1887-1934), George Willie
(1889-1948), Anna Margaretha (1891-1974), Rudolph (1893-
1948), and Elsie Christina (1895-1916). Their second son,
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Chris, is now owner and manager of the little general store
which is the only place of business in Gruetli proper.

[Chris’s daughter, mentioned at the beginning of this narra-
tive as Jackson’s guide, was Dola, who was 17 at the time. Sev-
enty-three years later, she remembers “Miss Jackson’s” visit
vividly. She was then a student at the Grundy County High
School in Tracy City. She recalls that the School Board had
found it too costly if not impossible to run a school bus for the
Gruetli children and had instead provided them with an old car
to get themselves from the Swiss Colongy out to a highway
where they could catch a bus from Palmer or Beersheba. Every
trip over the Gruetli roads and fields was an adventure! Since
she was the only girl, Dola drove and the four boys pushed when
they got stuck. In the summer of 1933, immediately after high
school graduation, she went to Middle Tennessee State Teach-
ers’ College in Murfreesboro. The next summer, her father be-
came ill and she stayed home with him. He died in in November
of 1934; and, following his wishes, she married Louie Berry of
Tracy City. They ran the store and the little farm. The marriage
was unhappy, and after her mother remarried, she took a job
with the Lone Star Gas company in Dallas, and from Texas got a
divorce. In 1944, she came back to Tennessee to work for TVA
in Chattanooga as a statistical draftsman. When the man whose
job she had filled came home from the war, she took a civil ser-
vice job in Okinawa, working for the Army Corps of Engineers
as a draftsman. There she met Richard Tylor, and they were
married in 1949. In 1956, they came back to finish college at
the University of Tennessee, where they both graduated in 1958.
In 1962, back they went to Okinawa, but Dola was now a budget
officer for the Signal Corps, while Richard continued with the
Corps of Engineers. They were joined there by Dola’s younger
brother, Roy, who married an Okinawan girl. In 1977, the
Corps transferred Richard to Winchester, Virginia. They are
now (2005) living in Winchester in a home filled with Okinawan
art, and both are in remarkably good health. Roy and his wife
are in Berryville, Virginia. Though life has taken Dola about as
far from Gruetli as one can get, she remembers her childhood
with deep gratitiude and affection. She has made a detailed in-
ventory of the old markers in the cemetery at Gruetili that is
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available at the Tracy City library. Her lively rendition of her
conversations with her grandmother, Barbara Marugg Scild, is
included as an addendum to this chapter. Her genealogical
work has provided accurate data for the Schild and Marugg fam-
ilies. Her life is a beautiful example of how the children of
Gruetli entered mainstream American culture without forgetting
the virtues of their upbringing. Or, if you will, of how the
Colony succeeded as it disappeared.

A different and seemingly unrelated Peter Schild (1835 —
1915) and his family settled nearby in Beersheba Springs. This
Peter and his wife, Anna Fuchs (1838-1907), and several chil-
dren came from Canton Bern to New York in January of 1871
and went straight to Beersheba. He seems to have found em-
ployment as a manager and caretaker of the properties of Martha
Armfield, widow of John Armfield. The family lived in the Otey
cottage, now known as Mountain Home, and was also given the
cottage known as Ten Pin in payment for services to Mrs. Arm-
field. There were a total of eleven children: Peter, Jr., Elisabeth,
Melchior, Alfred, (all born in Switzerland) and Mary, John Al-
bert, Lucy, Annie, Daniel, Mattie, and Betty Margaret. The
parents are buried in a small cemetery in Beersheba about 100
yards west of Tenn. 56 and 0.1 miles north of Big Don’s Market.
The story of this Schild family is being prepared by Joeseph
Schild, who may be reached at Joesfamily@mindspring.com.
The oldest son is known to have moved to Nashville and to have
worked at some time as a boilermaker for the N.C.&St.L rail-
road. I believe that it is he, not “Uncle Pete” from Gruetli, who
was a cousin of Melchior Thoni and with him, as we shall see
below, carved the evangelists and the angels on the reredos of
the altar in Christ Church Episcopal in downtown Nashville.
Ed]

The Marugg family represents perhaps the most influ-
ential group of settlers in the colony. In 1869, Christian Marugg
(1829 — 1904) came to America seeking a place for a future
home. He traveled through twenty-eight states but did not find a
place that suited him until he met Consul Hitz and went with
him, on the recommendation of Captain Plumacher, to Cumber-
land Mountain. There he seemed to be satisfied and gave up
further search, returning immediately to Switzerland. There is
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no record that I have been able to find of his having bought, be-
fore returning to Switzerland, any property in Gruetli or of his
having made any arrangements to return to the colony. But in
1873 he arrived in Gruetli from Switzerland, bringing his family
with him. His family consisted of his wife, Anna Brosi*’, and
five children: Barbara (1857-1946), Rudolph (1859 — 1896),
Martin (1861 — 19410, George (1864 — 1943), and Christina
(1867 — 1894). Two of the sons have been particularly outstand-
ing in the life of Gruetli. Rudolph married Anna Heer and was
the teacher in the school and a leader in the civic life of the vil-
lage. Martin married Elizabeth Schild, younger sister of “Uncle
Pete,” and was a member of the Agricultural Society (Land-
wirtschaftsverein) and its secretary for many years. Shortly af-
ter the family's arrival in America, Martin established the
Marugg Company in Tracy City, a firm which still imports Ger-
man and Swiss farming implements. This business has been un-
usually successful, and marks Mr. Marugg as one of the few fi-
nancially successful men who have come from the colony. The
firm has an attractive catalogue, written in both English and
German, describing and illustrating all of the foreign tools.
Many of the settlers in Gruetli use these tools as they prefer the
implements which have always been used by their forebears.
Mr. Marugg also has a large American clientele with whom
these Swiss cast bells (Schweizer Gussglocken), German scythes
(deutsche Sensen), etc., are very popular. The daughter, Bar-
bara, married John Schild, younger brother of “Uncle Pete.” 1
shall have more to say about this family in the course of this
study.

[Probably no one mentioned to Frances Jackson that Chris-
tian and Anna Marugg returned to Klosters, Switzerland about
1890, taking with them their two youngest children, George and
Christina. They intended to return to America, but only George
ever came back. Christina married in 1892 and had a son, Si-
mon Nett, in 1893 and a daughter, Anna in August of 1894.
Christina died two months later; and little Anna died at age five
months. The father died a year later in January 1896. Simon

3% Anna brought with her a notebook now in the possession of her great,
great granddaughter Sylvia Bryant. A page is shown in the addendum
to this chapter.
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was then brought up by his grandparents, until his grandmoth-
er’s death in 1907 when he was 14. He seems to have done
well, however, and lived to age 80. Dola Schild Tylor has a pic-
ture of him skiing.]

The Thoni and Rychen families are inseparably joined, both
by marriage and, in the early days, by business. In the month of
October, in the year 1869, Melchior Thoni and his wife, Eliza-
beth Schild,*® came from the canton of Bern in Switzerland to
settle in Gruetli. With them were two of their children, Mel-
chior and John. Two other children, Margaret and Peter, had
died. The father bought a lot of one hundred acres and the two
sons, Melchior and John, joined to buy another lot adjoining. In
the allotment the two lots No. 9 and 10 fell to the two sons and
father respectively. In the same year John Rychen, also of Bern,
married Elizabeth Thoni, another child of Melchior, and the two
came to America and to Gruetli on their honeymoon and to
make their future home there. They bought lot No.11 next to
that of Elizabeth's father. Either late in the year 1869 or early in
the year 1870, John Rychen's mother came over from Switzer-
land, bringing his sisters and settling with John. His father had
died a number of years before and left his wife and children
without any money; the wife being very active had started a
laundry business on a small scale and it had prospered until she
had earned enough to bring her small family to America. Thus
the two families arrived here and started out together.

The following illustrations are carvings by Melchior Thoni.
The wall sconces are in the possession of John E. Baggenstoss

% [Jackson gives his wife’s name as Anna, but according to Lycinda
Thoni Allen, who has thoroughly researched Thoni geneology, this
Melchior’s wife was Elisabeth Schild, an identification which could ac-
count for references to a Peter Schild (probably of the Beersheba
Schild family, which, like the Thoni family, came from Breinz) as the
cousin of Melchior the younger. £d.]
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In 1871, Melchior Thoni, son, married Elizabeth Rychen,
and in 1874 they moved to Sewanee where Melchior had the job
of building fires for the University. He spent his evenings carv-

ing, a trade which he had learned in Switzerland, and made
many very beautiful things. One of the most beautiful of these
is a table about three feet high which is elaborately carved, in-
cluding the legs, and a very intricate design and picture in relief
on the top. This table is now in the possession of his son Frank
in Nashville. [In 2002, the table is in the possession of Delores
Krech Carter in Nashville. £d.] Many small articles, such as pic-
ture frames, candlesticks, trinket boxes and little sets of shelves
were carved by young Melchior and sold in the summer at
Monteagle to the tourists. Melchior's children still have a few of
them which were not sold. In 1880, Mr. Tom Karl of Nashville
got in touch with Mr. Thoni and hired him to come to Nashville
to carve a "flyin' jinny.” And so the family moved to Nashville
where they have made their home ever since.

I now return to the Rychen family and trace them to the
present time. John and his bride Elizabeth Thoni were trying to
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make a living in Gruetli. To supplement what they made on the
farm, John spent his time in the winter carving the same kind of
little trinkets that Melchior Thoni was making in Sewanee. He
was very gifted and quick and in the summer there was always a
big supply ready to take to Beersheba to sell to the tourists. His
wife often helped him but the things which she carved were sim-
pler, as she was not as talented as her husband. It was six miles
to Beersheba®” and Elizabeth with her son Emil always walked
over and back, leaving early in the morning and returning late at
night. The husband was not able to go with her because summer
was the time when it was most necessary to work on the farm.
Mr. Emil Rychen told me the little tale that his mother always
took him along and never any of the other children, so that after
a while he was called her pet, but she answered this with the re-
mark that she always took him with her because she was afraid
the house wouldn't be there when she returned if she left him

%7 [She must have gone down into the Big Creek Gulf and up through
Stone Door; on top of the mountain, it would have been much further.
Ed.]
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there. The little family lived there until 1880 and in the mean-
time five children were born: John, Emil, Emma, Lena and
Anna.

When Melchior Thoni came to Nashville to carve the "flyin'
jinny," he sent for John Rychen to come down and help him.
John was not financially able to bring his family so he came
alone and left them in Gruetli. This little merry-go-round was
so successful that the two men decided to make one for them-
selves which they promptly did. John Thoni then came down
from Gruetli and the three men took the "flyin' jinny" or
Résslispiel, as it is called in Swiss German, and traveled with it.
They followed circuses and were very popular with their merry-
go-round drawn by a little spotted pony. In 1881, while they
made on the farm, they were in Pine Bluff, Arkansas, John
Rychen caught typhoid pneumonia and died after a few days.
They were too poor to take him back to Gruetli or to have his
wife come there, so he was buried by his friends in the shade of
a large tree. After this misfortune, the two Thoni brothers be-
came discouraged with the "flyin' jinny" business and returned
to Nashville. Upon his return, Melchior Thoni got employment
as foreman of the Edgefield and Nashville (furniture) Manufac-
turing Company, which position he held for thirty years until his
death in 1926. While working as woodcarver for this concern he
is said to have also instructed at least two hundred other men in
his artistic handicraft. Thus he did all that was in his power to
carry on in this art which has always been so widely followed
among the Swiss.

[Update 2002. In 1947, Bill Holder, a reporter for the Nash-
ville Tennesseean Magazine, after repeatedly encountering the
name of Melchior Thoni, made some investigation and found
Rosa Krech, his daughter, and H.J. Kleiser, who had learned the
woodcarving trade from him. He writes:

In the Swiss Alps, the boy Melchior Thoni tended his
father’s goats and cattle, herding them higher into the
mountains as the warm season approached. By the time
summer arrived, Thoni and the others had reached the cot-
tages where they camped till fall, when they would begin
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the descent. To pass the long hours in the mountains, the
men who tended the cattle made simple carvings -- forks,
pen staffs, jewel caskets — which they usually decorated
with a little edelweiss, the national flower of Switzerland.
They called it “one-handed” carving, because they held the
wood in one hand and the knife in the other. During certain
times of the year, buyers came through the mountains and
these hand-carved trinkets were taken away to the big
tourist cities, where they were sold in the magazins. Mel-
chior Thoni’s father noticed his son’s talent for carving
these trinkets and decided to apprentice him to a master
woodcarver, one Bauman. Melchior Thoni [had] mastered
his art when he came to America and Gruetli, from Breinz,
Canton Bern, in 1869 with his parents and brothers and sis-
ters. He was 20 years old. .... In 1871, Thoni took a wife, a
Swiss maiden who had come over on the same boat, and in
January, 1873 Rosa was born; her mother used to tell her
that snow blew through the cabin wall onto the natal bed.
... [After moving to Sewanee], in one corner of the kitchen
of their little two-room flat, Melchior found room to set up
his treadle lathe and saw. He was also accomplished on the
clarinet and accordion, and sometimes he and his brother
John picked up a little extra money making music at stu-
dent dances.

In 1880 or *81, Melchior Thoni moved his family to
Nashville. Soon afterward, it came to the mind of Melchior
and his brother John to build a flying jenny, or carousel,
that would have horses and roosters and ostriches and
chamois and deer and even chariots. The men set to work,
and Melchior’s sensitive eye and hand soon brought life to
the wood under his chisel. But when the carousel was
done, a jealous rival woodcarver who had also made a mer-
ry-go-round claimed that Melchior had copied his animals
and brought suit in the federal court here for infringement
of patent. “Why, this man could not even draw these ani-
mals, much less carve them,” said the [accusing] woodcarv-
er. “If I had a piece of chalk, I could show you,” replied
Melchior, and so the judge sent out for some chalk. When
it was brought, Melchior took a piece and drew a graceful
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leaping deer on the floor in front of the judge’s bench.
When the judge saw it, he dismissed the case.

.... [When he joined the Edgefield and Nashville com-
pany], Melchior was placed over all the wood carvers —
there were sometimes six or eight of them. Under his quiet
guidance, they were turning out woodcarvings that went all
over the Union. He was not only a supervisor but a worker
as well, and in all his 25 years there no job was too difficult
for him, and they say he could work as fast as fury when it
was his wish. Foreman Thoni went to work at 7 o’clock in
morning, and at 7:30 he hooked over the work of Kleiser
and the other woodcarvers, sometimes taking the tools in
his own hands to show them what he wanted. Thoni was
not a harsh overseer, but nothing fretted him so much as
botched work. When he had finished his round of the work
benches, he returned to his own bench and worked as the
rest. You could tell the wood on which Thoni worked, for
it was always covered with sketches of flowers, or birds, or
a bit of scrollwork, anything that came to his mind as he
carved. At noon, he ate lunch at his bench, and sometimes
he and his cousin Peter Schild conversed in their native
Swiss dialect. A half-hour later, he made another round of
benches.

No two pieces of work were alike in those days. Thoni
and his woodcarvers turned out mantles, newel posts, and
fancy stairways. In hardwood, the created the fine interiors
of such houses as the Druillard home on Demonbreun
Street, the B. F. Wilson home on Sixth avenue and the old
governor’s mansion on Seventh Avenue. Some of their
finest work went into fancy bar fixtures for saloons. Most
of these are no longer with us, but Thoni’s masterly hand
can still be seen in the altar at Christ Church [on the corner
of Broadway and 8" Avenue.], for it was he and his work-
men who carved that splendid appurtenance of worship.
After the contract for this had been awarded to the E. and
N., Silas McBee, the architect for the church, who had de-
signed the altar, walked into the carving room. He and
Thoni regarded each other with the look of those who think
they might have known one another in other times, and
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Thoni was seen to be in deep thought. Finally recognition
sprang to his face; the architect McBee had been a student
at the University in Sewanee when Thoni was there, almost
20 years before. The two clasped hands and had a great
time talking over university days.

.... The project also included the canopied bishop’s
chair, credence, pulpit, and choir rail, and many of finials,
moldings, and angelic heads and wings came from his ex-
pert hands. The principal figures — those of the evangelists
and cherubim and seraphim in the side panels of the reredos
— are mainly work of Thoni’s cousin, Peter Schild, and he
and Thoni brought them home with them after work and
carved into the night.*®

Melchior retired after 25 years, and carved only a few pieces
thereafter. He died in 1926.

After the “flyin’ jinny” venture, Melchior’s brother John
first had a dairy business in Nashville, Star Dairy, then acquired
a truck farm in the bend of Mill Creek just downstream from
where it is crossed by the Murfreesboro Road (U.S. 41) in the
southeast outskirts of Nashville. He and his wife Mary Magde-
lena had eight children who reached maturity: John, Jr., Anna,
Emil, Madeline, William, Edward, Walter, and Louis. The farm
was eventually taken over by his son John Jr. and worked with
his son John William; an adjacent farm was at one time owned
by John Jr.’s brother William, then by another family, and then
by John William’s brother, Carl. Herschel Gower, who grew up
some 200 yards away, remembers the luxuriant produce they
grew on this very fertile piece of bottom land. They had in-
stalled a hydraulic ram in the creek, so the current lifted a por-
tion of the water up to irrigate the farm, which produced all
manner of vegetables in great abundance. The water splashed
out into a trough where Mrs. Thoni washed bushel after bushel
of vegetables, especially turnip greens, until her hands were
swollen. Herschel remembers the Thonis as the most industri-
ous people he ever knew. These great-grandsons had indeed re-
alized the dream of their immigrant great-grandfather. When, in
1970, John William was ready to retire and the farm had become

38 The Nashville Tenneseean Magazine, November 14, 1947.
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surrounded by commercial developments, it was sold to devel-
opers so that the estate could be divided. John William and his
son John Pete, who was still working the farm, moved to the
Franklin area.

In all, John Thoni had 26 grandchildren: from John Jr.: John
William, Margaret, Olga, Henry, Carl, Madeline and Virginia;
from Emil: Harold, Richard (who founded the Thoni Oil Com-
pany) and Elmore; from Madeline, Emil Spiechs; from William:
Elizabeth, William, and Amelia; from Edward: Edward Jr.,
Phillip, Charles, and Horace; from Walter: Anne, Walter Jr.,
John, Albert J. (one source of this information), and Herman;
from Louis: Caroline, Mary Martha, Helen, and Ruby.

Lycinda Thoni Allen, daughter of John Pete Thoni, son of
John William, has brought her professional computer skills to
bear on organizing the Thoni genealogy. She hopes to soon
have a website devoted to the family; until then, she can be
reached at ltallen@attglobal.net. Curiously, one thing she has
not been able to establish is how long the original Melchior
Thoni remained in Gruetli. He was, however, still there in 1880,
for he shows up in the census. One trait she notices among John
Thoni’s descendents is that they tend to own their own busi-
nesses, whether it be a farm, an oil company, a medical practice,
a computer consulting practice, or something else. A bit of
Swiss self-reliance? Ed.]

After the death of John Rychen, his family stayed in Gruetli
until about 1889, existing on what they could make on the farm,
and that was certainly very poor fare. A year or so before, John
Jr. had come to Nashville at the age of fifteen to learn the har-
ness trade, and if possible to earn some money to send home for
food. This case was typical in the Gruetli families. The chil-
dren left as soon as they were old enough to earn money that
their parents might have enough to eat. Through the influence
of his uncle, Melchior Thoni, John was persuaded to change
from the not very profitable harness trade to the dairy business.
He started out with only a few cows bought from his uncle and
gradually increased the number as his means permitted. Before
the family left to take up their home in Nashville, they sold their
one hundred acre lot with all the tools and house for $400, so
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that there was a little to start out on in their new home. The two
brothers joined in the dairy business and are still in the same lo-
cation which they bought shortly after their arrival. Their busi-
ness, the Rychen Brother's Dairy, is located on the Couchville
Pike where each brother has his own home. The three daughters
are married and living in Nashville in their own homes. One of
them married a member of the colony, George Marugg, and the
other two married Swiss from other places.

Of the other families who were outstanding, I have been
able to find very little information, so I shall let them pass with
only slight mention. The Jenni and Kissling families were
prominent in the musical life of the colony and were united in
marriage probably because of this common interest. From the
map and the church records I have found that a Johannes and a
Peter Kissling came over from the Canton of Bern about 1870
and settled in Gruetli. Johannes bought four 100 acre lots and
Peter bought one next to these. Peter, who was probably a
brother of Johannes, brought a wife, Rosina, and two children,
Alfred and Rudolph. After arriving they had two more children,
Robert and Verena Ida. Johannes' family consisted, before their
arrival in America, of his wife, Margaretha, and two children,
Anna and John. Three more children, Albert, Heinrich, and An-
dreas were born after their arrival. In the list of members of the
church, the name of Samuel Jenni and wife Maria appears, but
there is no record of his having bought any land in Gruetli be-
fore 1873 when the map of the colony was made, so the most
likely conclusion is that he came to the colony after that date.
Mr. Martin Marugg said that Jenni came from Boston where he
had been leader of an orchestra. The two families were united
by the marriage of John Kissling, son of Johannes, to Mar-
garetha Jenni, daughter of Samuel, on March 1, 1884, in Gruetli.
John Kissling is now dead but his wife is living in Nashville
with her children. More will be said of these families under the
discussion of the musical life in the colony.
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One of the later arrivals at the colony was the Suter family.
In 1883, in the month of February, Leonard Suter* came to
America with five children. They settled in Pennsylvania where
they lived for two and a half years. In the Amerikanische
Schweizer Zeitung, they read of the Swiss settlement in Gruetli
and decided to move there. They bought a 100 acre lot [Number
59] with a barn from Mr. Ruef, and paid the price of $85 for it.
They lived in this barn for six years, since the entire colony was
poverty-stricken. When the son, Gotthard*, came to Nashville
as a young man to earn some money, he first worked for $15 a
month. He kept $2.50 for himself and sent the rest home for
food. Since then, he has built up a prospering bakery business in
Nashville in which he is assisted by his two sons. He has been
very helpful in giving me information about the colony.

I have written to the Amerikanische Schweizer Zeitung to get
copies of any articles which appeared in it on the subject of this
colony, but I have not been able to get an answer.

Update 2002. The Suter farm was actually purchased in the
name of Jacob Suter, Leonard’s brother, for $80, and tax records

% [Leonhard Suter’s “Homeland Certificate” (Heimatschein) is in the

possession of his great, great granddaughter Jackie Suter Lawley. In it,
the president and members of the town council of Stallikon (District
Affoltern, Canton Zurich) certify that Leonhard Suter and his wife,
Barbara Widmer Suter, together with all their children “begotten in
lawful marriage” are citizens of Stallikon and will always be accepted
there. The Heimatschein does not necessarily mean that Leonhard was
living in Stallikon when it was issued. It means only that he or some
ancestor lived there. It shows that Leonhard was born in 1843 and
seems to say that he was a son of Rudolf Suter of Gamlikon. Stallikon
is a village about 4 /2 miles southwest of downtown Zurich; Gamlikon
is a mile or so south of Stallikon. In 2002, there were five telephone
listings for Widmer in Stallikon but none for Suter in either Stallikon or
Gamlikon. There are, however, dozens of Rudolf Suter listing in Can-
ton Zurich, but only one Leonhard Suter. ].

“ [Gotthard was the second son. He married Lena Thoni and had three
children, Albert, Carl and Elizabeth. His second wife was Pauline
Angst; and his third wife, Lena Friedl.]
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show the Suter brothers sharing tax payments for several years.
Leonard later bought the property from Jacob.

Leonard had preceeded his family to America. His wife,
Barbara Widmer, brought the five children, John, Gothard, Bar-
bara, Leonhard, and Ida, to America but came only as far as
Pennsylvania. When Leonard came to Gruetli, she remained
with the oldest son, John, in Pennsylvania, where she seems to
have contracted tuberculosis and died a few years later. John
then went to Wisconsin. The four children who came to Gruetli
were raised by Barbara Vollenweider. Her position in the Suter
household may have begun as a sort of au pair, but at some
point, presumably after the death of Barbara Widmer, her posi-
tion moved up to wife, for her tombstone in the Gruetli cemetery
reads, “Barbara Vollenweider, wife of Leonard Suter.” She
seems to have written to relatives in Zurich telling them both of
her happiness in America and of her realization that they would
not meet again in this world. The reply has come down to us in
the old German “Siitterlin” script. The relatives wrote “Your last
letter first rejoiced us and then at the end brought us to tears.
For there we felt again the separation on this earth where you
wrote, ‘Farewell, until we meet again in heaven.”” This pain of
separation from loved ones must have been a constant presence
for the first generation of immigrants.

The daughters, Barbara and Ida, married Gruetli boys, Hein-
rich Zopfi and Emil Rychen, respectively. Barbara and Heinrich
had a daughter, Katie; Ida and Emil, six children.

Leonard Jr., the youngest son of the immigrant, remained
on the farm in Gruetli. He had six children. The oldest, Joseph
was at Pearl Harbor when it was attacked in 1941. He survived
and worked as a consultant in Orlando, Florida and Mempbhis,
Tennessee rescuing ailing hotels. He is survived by his wife,
Anna Mae and two children, Joseph Jr. and Carol Anne .

The second son, Jacob (Jake), worked for a year in Cleve-
land, was then in the Army Air Corps for three years, spent three
years with Ryan Aircraft in San Diego, and then returned to
Gruetli where he took over the family farm. He bought and oper-
ated a sawmill for ten years, and worked 27 years in life insur-
ance. He married Helen Lucille Bond of West Virginia and had
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two children, Mary Jacqueline and JohnVincent. This daughter,
now Jackie Lawley of Fairfax Station, Virginia, is currently
president of the Grundy County Swiss Historical Society. John
is an electrician with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers at
Watts Barr. He has one son, John Jr. After Helen’s death in
1991, Jacob married Clara Stampfli Brock, widow of Harold
Morgan Brock of Cowan, Tennessee. More about Clara follows
under the Stampfli family in the Addendum to this chapter. In
the summer of 2002, Jake and Clara were living in the house
where he was born on lot #59 in Gruetli, now with all the mod-
ern comforts. Rows of Cynthiana grape vines extend away from
the house, producing the raw material for the excellent wine for
which Jake was well known locally. Jake and his daughter Jack-
ie are my sources for this information on the Suter family. He
died October 31, 2002 while this book was being edited.

The third child of Leonard Jr., Carl, worked in the coal
mines, was then in the service in Alaska, and is now retired from
a mastics firm in Cleveland, Ohio where he worked many years.
He lives in Conyers, Georgia and has a son, Carl Jr. and had a
daughter Anna Lee (d). The fourth child, Anna Marie, died
young of appendicitis. The fifth child, Leonard Lee, was a sur-
veyor for state highway department and later for the Hens-
ley-Schmidt Engineering Co. in Chattanooga. He died in the ear-
ly 1990’s and is survived by two daughters, Patricia and Linda.
The sixth child, John Allen, a mechanical engineer, worked for
Combustion Engineering Co. in Chattanooga. He is survived by
a daughter, Rhonda Lynn.
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Addendum: Barbara Marugg Comes to Gruetli

By Dola Schild Tylor

In the late 1930’s, my grandmother, Barbara Marugg
Schild, and I decided that I would write down some of her mem-
ories of coming from Switzerland to the Swiss Colony then being
settled at Gruetli in Grundy County, Tennessee. At that time,
Grandma was about eighty and living with her son Rudolph
and his wife Virginia in the valley of the Collins River near
McMinnville, but her heart and the rest of her family were in
Gruetli, where she spent every summer. So, when we had the
time, we would sit in the old wooden swing on the screened-in
front porch, and Grandma would reminisce, in no particular or-
der, while I scribbled as fast as I could on an old lined tablet.
Now it is 1999, more than sixty years later, and I am 84 when [
decide to straighten out my messy notes and write so others can
read what Grandma told me that summer. I regret very much
that I didn’t continue this project during Grandma’s other sum-
mer Vvisits to the mountain. [I’ll put the story in the first person
with Grandma as the speaker, though only occasionally have I
been able to preserve her exact words.

I was born 1 October 1857 in Klosters, Canton Grau-
bunden, Switzerland, the first child of Christian and Anna Brosi
Marugg. My younger brothers and sister were Rudolf (born 27
June 1859), Martin (born 14 April 1861), George (born 19 Feb-
ruary 1864), and Christina (born 21 April 1867).

When [ was fifteen, we all came to America on the ship
Silesia, from the port of Hamburg, Germany through Le Harve,
France to New York, where we arrived on 27 February 1873.
The crossing from Le Harve to New York took eleven days.
Then we came on by boat to Norfolk, Virginia. We arrived hun-
gry but in the late afternoon. In the only eating place we could
find, meal time was over and everything had been eaten; but
mother found a plate with some cracker crumbs and something
that looked like thin jelly. She poured it over the crumbs and
gave it to us children. Later we learned that the thin jelly was
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called molasses. It was our first taste of what later became a sta-
ple food for us.

We came to Cowan by train, and then sat on tow sacks in a
freight car coming up the mountain to Tracy City. A man with a
wagon met us there and took us to old man Bauer’s place in
Gruetli. It was a log house; one room was the general store, and
in a smaller room they sold shoes. He let us use an abandoned
old, one-room building that had once been a store. Our only
piece of furniture was a stove. Our meal that first night in
Gruetli was potatoes, black coffee, soup and cornbread. The
potatoes were an old-fashioned red, oblong kind that takes a
long time to cook. We didn’t understand the kinds of wood
growing in the area, so the kind we gathered for the fire would
not burn. Later we learned that it was green chestnut. At mid-
night, the potatoes were still not cooked, but we could not wait
any longer, so we ate them half-done. The soup was made from
vegetables we bought from a farmer. The bread was made of
cornmeal and water.

Since we had no furniture except the stove, we had to sleep
on the floor. We sewed together potato sacks and filled them
with leaves raked in the forest. Father and each child had such a
bed. Each child was responsible for making and keeping up his
own bed, but as oldest daughter, I was responsible for fixing Fa-
ther’s bed. The first night he said his bed was too thin. The
next day, we carried his potato sack into the forest and filled it
as full as we could. That night, Father complained that his bed
was too hard and lumpy in places. We children laughed and told
him he would have to shape it up to suit himself.

Mother was a cripple and in rather delicate health, so for her
we made a special bed. We cut a large tree in the forest and
from it made four stumps. The rest of the tree we sawed into
planks with a cross-cut saw. The four stumps were placed in
one corner of the room as bedposts. Two planks were placed as
bedrails and other planks placed crosswise as we now do with
the slats of our beds. On this platform was placed Mother’s
mattress — a potato sack filled with leaves and what wild hay we
could find. Over that was a blanket. Blankets were the only bed
coverings we had brought from Switzerland. Some of the neigh-

86



bors wondered that Father would sleep on the floor like this —
Father, who in Switzerland had been president of the city!

)

Next, we made “chairs,” really just plain stumps, one for
each person. At first, we ate from the top of a trunk; but it was
very inconvenient because we couldn’t put our feet under it.
Then Father make a table using the same idea as Mother’s bed:
four stumps covered with planks. Some of the planks were
round on the edges so tin cups of coffee sometimes spilled. We
could not afford such waste, so Father whittled off the tops of
the planks until they were smooth.

The men of the Community Committee had decided to name
the Colony after a place in Switzerland called Ruetli, but
thought that it would sound better to start the word with the let-
ter G, so it became Gruetli. Ruetli was the place where William
Tell shot the apple from his son’s head. [On this point, Grand-
ma was a little confused; Ruetli plays a prominent but different

role in Schiller’s Wilhelm Tell. — Ed. |

One day in the summer of 1874, the whole family went to
Altamont to shop. Mother was riding, and she and Father were
quite a ways ahead of us children. Several miles from home, we
children met several men on horses. They were dressed in long,
black coats with short capes over their shoulders and lots of
shining buttons on the front. They wore queer looking hats
which caused us children to laugh and say gleefully to each oth-
er, “Here comes Napoleon. Here comes Napoleon.” We were
speaking German, of course. The men frowned and looked at us
meanly. One asked gruffly several times what we had said. We
pretended we could not understand, so after some short words
that sounded mean, they kicked their horses and rode on.

A few days later, four of these men rode into Gruetli just af-
ter dark. Two of them stayed a little back behind some bushes
while the other two rode up to the house next to Bauer’s store
and asked for old man Bauer. Agnes, the girl to whom they
were speaking, said Mr. Bauer lived in the next house and she
would go call him. As Mr. Bauer passed Agnes, he quickly
handed her a small box. As she slipped it under the bed, she
heard a pistol shot. She ran into the store and stumbled over the
body of Mr. Bauer sprawled out on the floor. One of the men
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jumped over the counter and pulled out the money drawer and
found only 15 cents. This made him very angry, and he threw
open many drawers and plundered all over the store but found
no more money. They had killed a man for 15 cents! One of the
killers was a wild bandit who later shot a mail carrier from his
horse to get what money he had in the mail pouch.

In Switzerland, children started to school when they seven
going on eight years old. The younger children had only little
reading books, and the older children studied subjects that
would be used in everyday living, such as arithmetic, reading,
geography, spelling and writing. We had eight-month school
terms.

In 1875, two years after settling in Gruetli, the family was
able to send the four younger children to school in Altamont.
As the oldest, I was to stay home and help Mother. The children
boarded with a family named Logan. [I can find no one named
Logan in Altamont in the 1870 or 1880 censuses, but in 1870
there was an Eli Logue, aged 62, shoe and boot maker, and his
wife, Nancy, aged 57. In 1880, Nancy was a widow. — D.S.T.]
Cristina, the youngest, however, would not stay away from
home unless I would go with her. So that is how I got my
American schooling — all two months of it, just long enough to
learn my ABC’s in English. While the others were in school, I
had to mend and care for their clothing, and every week I
brought a basket from home full of darning and patching. When
all my work was done, there was little time for school or play or
getting acquainted with the neighborhood children. Moreover,
the other children laughed and made fun of my efforts to con-
verse with them in my broken English, so being a bit shy by na-
ture, I stopped trying to play or talk with them. After two
months, Mother became ill, and Father took me home to care for
her. At home, only Swiss German was spoken, as it was in the
whole community, so I had no further chance to learn English
for several years.

The school in Altamont had rough stump and plank benches
and two tables made the same way as our table at home. There
were about 24 pupils. The had a reader, a blue-backed speller,
and a slate and slate pencil for writing. Sometimes in class they
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would write on the schoolroom floor with soft chalk; we had no
blackboards in those days. The younger children in the family,
especially Martin, played with the neighboring children and
soon picked up many English words and expressions. The teach-
er in Altamont could not speak or understand German, so Mar-
tin was our interpreter.

I delivered milk for Mrs. Logan to a house about a quarter
mile away. Along the road, I saw such beautiful wildflowers!
Nothing like those in Switzerland, but just as beautiful. One
day, I put down the milk by the roadside and picked flowers and
more flowers until my arms were so full they could hold no
more. Standing there in the warmth of the setting sun, I realized
that I was happy here, very happy in spite of the hard work and
hard times we were having.

One day while I was with the children in Altamont, Martin
said that I should cut the hair of our youngest brother, George.
George was 10 years old, and his hair was in what we now call a
long bob; it hung down to his shoulders. Martin gave me some
scissors and showed me a motion to cut the hair upwards, mak-
ing the top hair shorter. I set to work, and soon George’s head
looked like an abandoned rat’s nest! I didn’t know what to do.
The more I trimmed, the worse it looked, and it looked horrible.
Poor George! Mrs. Logan told me about a Mr. Wes Brown, who
was a good barber. I took George and the scissors and went in
search of Mr. Brown. I found him in the village store and took
George to him and made a cutting motion around George’s
head, and said “Please” in my best English. Mr. Brown laughed
and said, “What?” “Please,” I said, and added “do for me.”
And he did. Soon George’s hair looked fairly good.
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Mother wanted a big house like the one we had had in
Switzerland, so in 1878 Father built a sawmill on the creek near

The Marugg house in on Colony Road 1.8 miles east of TN
56. Picture from 2005.

the house. He made a dam across the creek and used the water
to power two mills, a sawmill upstairs and a grist mill down-
stairs. There was one big stone for corn and another for rye. Fa-
ther went to Louisville, Kentucky to get the stone for rye. We
cut trees from our own land and sawed the lumber for the house.

Under the house, Father dug a small cellar for milk and veg-
etables. This was an inexpensive way of preserving. Apples,
pears, peaches, huckleberries and beans we dried. We learned
about canning in America. We made jellies and figured out how
much we could have each day and still have enough for a year.
If we had a visitor, we got reduced rations for the next few days.
Each year, we had a 45-gallon barrel of molasses. Dried black-
berries were very popular and did not last long. Huckleberries
were a delicacy we used in muffins or just ate them plain.
Sometimes there was meat only for Father and not for us chil-
dren. One hog would give us enough lard for a year.
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About 1875-76, the community built a church and used it
also for a school house. It was a log building with a ceiling and
weather boarding to make it good and warm. The community
donated two parcels of land, totaling 600 acres, for the benefit of
the school. Later, another 400 acres was given for the upkeep
and improvements of the school. This building was still in use
as the school until it burned in 1934. Grundy County had never
built a school house for the community, even though it had been
given 1000 acres of land for the support of a school. The Coun-
ty was also given a fund of money for the school. With all that,
the County would not put up a school for the community. After
the fire, school was taught in a private home and then in a
garage, while the people pleaded with the County for a school-
house. When it was finally built, my son Rudolph taught the
first county-school in Gruetli.

In Switzerland, flax and hemp were grown and made into
thread and cloth. Flax was used for dresses and hemp for aprons
and leaf sheets. Flax was also used for underwear, but it was
rough. Sometimes we could swap flax and hemp for cotton. In
America, the Sunday dress for girls was calico in summer and
linsey in winter. The dresses came just below the knees. We
had low-neck blouses and button shoes. Black shoes had red
buttons, and brown shoes had gold buttons. It was Christina’s
job to clean and shine the buttons every Friday. She had a little
box of polish in the shoe box. We brought all our shoes from
Switzerland and bought some in Nashville, but the new ones
were too narrow and made corns on the toes. One day, I fainted
in the field from tight shoes. Sometimes girls fainted at dances
because of the tight corsets.

I remember the day in 1874 that little Lizzie Schild decided
to run away from home because her mother wanted to pull her
loose tooth. Lizzie was the daughter of Peter and Margarita
Ruef Schild, and was later to marry my brother Martin. But
then Lizzie was 10 years old. She put on one hat, and wrapped
up another, some shoes and clothes in a red cloth. When she
told her mother that she was going to leave, her mother just said,
“Go ahead.” Lizzie went about a mile to a neighbor’s house, felt
tired, lay down under a shade tree and went to sleep. That day,
her father and brother just happened to be helping this neighbor
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with farming chores, so at the end of the day they brought a
sleepy Lizzie back home.

When it was time to do the laundry, we soaked the clothes
for a day in barrel-sized tubs made of hickory staves held to-
gether with metal bands. If the tubs got dry, they would fall
apart, so we had to keep them damp at all times. We washed
once every four weeks. Back in Switzerland, we had washed
only twice a year. There we had had a maid who helped with
the housework, cared for the children, cooked, and helped with
the field work.

Once people in Gruetli started a business making hats from
rye straw. The straw was cut at a certain stage and pressed flat.
Then it was soaked in water until it was soft, maybe overnight,
and then plaited. We used three straws in making a small plait
and five to make an average, wide plait. Then they were sewn
together on the hat form. The hats sold well at first in nearby
towns and even in Louisville, Kentucky. But they were so well
made and lasted so well that there was little demand the second
year. People began to undersell one another, and soon the hat
business became unprofitable and was abandoned.

Sometimes [ think about childhood back in Switzerland.
Only in May would the snow begin to melt. You could rake the
snow off the ground and find pretty flowers blooming. About
the second day after the snow had melted, the teacher would de-
clare a holiday and take us children up into the mountains to see
the flowers and the pretty rocks. The flowers grew very thick
and blanketed the mountain sides. They were mostly crocus and
daisies of rainbow colors. They were already blooming under
the snow and so were in full bloom when the snow melted.
When we were on the mountain in the midst of all the flowers,
the teacher had us line up in formation and sing songs. The
teacher or one of the older pupils would play a trumpet. The
music and singing could be heard in the village below and
would resound throughout the valley.

Father once told me that when he was a young man, his fa-
ther had given him a filly to care for. Instead, he sold the young
horse. His father demanded the money and gave him a thrashing
to make him give it over. Father then ran away from home, over
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St. Moritz and into Italy. There he found a job as a school
teacher and had to learn Italian as he taught his pupils.

One evening, a girl friend and I went to a dance at the
Stocker house. There we saw John Schild and a friend all bro-
ken out with pimples or a rash. I said to my friend, “There are
two of the ugliest boys!” Well, wouldn’t you know, we married
those two boys! That night, John danced with me and walked
me home. [ was 23 then. When John came to the house to see
me, Mother asked, “What’s up?” 1 replied, “The right one
comes.”

For my wedding, I wore a black dress with the white lace
trimmings always used for weddings. I got the dress from New
York. I had a short white veil, white flowers, black shoes and
stockings, oodles of petticoats, a false back, and a hoop in the
skirt. After the wedding there was a big party with food and
music. We had made an arbor in the yard and covered it with
brush and trimmed it with flowers. WELCOME was written on
it. Here we served the food and drinks. There were doughnuts
and cake made from rye flower and beer we had brought from
Tracy City. That day was 29 November 1884.

John, my husband, was born 6 July 1858 in Brienz, Switzer-
land, son of Peter and Margarita Ruef Schild. He had gone to
Nashville when he was 14 and worked in a butcher shop. Two
weeks after the wedding, we moved to Nashville, but after a few
months I got malaria and was very sick. We moved back to
Gruetli, but I was sick until after John Jr. was born in March
1886.

In 1888, Father, Mother, George and Christina went back to
Switzerland on a visit. They were to stay a year or two. George
came back in 1891, but Christina married and she and our par-
ents never returned to America.

Grandma left me with the impression that her mother
never returned to America, but I found a tombstone for her in
the Tracy City cemetery with a death date of 2 March 1907.

Did she return? The question remains a mystery for me. A brief
account of Grandma’s children has been given under the Schild
family elsewhere in this book.
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Addendum: Greeter, Baggenstoss, and Stampfli Families

Three families — Greeter, Baggenstoss, and Stampfli — are
strongly associated with the Swiss tradition in Grundy County
but were not covered in this chapter, perhaps because they were
relatively late comers. Here are their stories, in order of their ar-
rival.

The Greeter immigrants from Switzerland were John J.
(1830 - 1896) and his wife Christine (1843 — 1932). They appear
in the 1870 Census under the name Gruter and in the 1880 Cen-
sus with the name Greider. According to family tradition, they
took a lease on the Lovers’ Leap property in Beersheba Springs,
where they stayed for about a year. On August 6, 1880, they
bought for $1 plus the lease on “the Beersheba Place” a 620 acre
tract known as the “the Long Mill Farm” according to the deed
of that date. John Greeter seems to have been the first of the
Swiss to be primarily a sawmill owner and operator and to have
used his land principally for timber. From this business came
the Greeter Lumber Company in Altamont, a firm prospering
under the management of John’s great granddaughter, Joyce
Greeter Henley. The acreage also included the superb swim-
ming hole in Firescauld Creek traditionally known as Long’s
Mill, as it is called in the minutes of the Swiss colony. The
Greeters shared it with grateful swimmers and carefully pre-
served its environment until it was acquired by the State and
blandly renamed “Blue Hole.” Fortunately, the state showed bet-
ter judgment in naming the falls below the swimming place
“Greeter Falls” and providing good access to the pool below the
falls.

John and Christine Greeter had three sons, John George
(1868 — 1960), Fred, and Willie. Fred and Willie together
bought a nearby farm but never married. John George married
Anna Stocker (1871-1935), daughter of Leon (1832 —1887) and
Philomena Myers Stocker (1843- 1906), original settlers in
Gruetli. They had three sons, Harvey (1885 — 1989), Leo ( 1901
-), and Werner (1903-1987). They stayed in the family business.
Most of these early Greeters are buried in the Altamont ceme-
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tery on Northcut’s Cove Road, about .2 miles from where it
branches off Tennessee 56 just north of Piney Creek.

Harvey married Grace Dykes (1890 — 1920) and had a
daughter, Harvey Grace Greeter (1920), who married Eugene
McGovern and had two children, Phillip and Donnie. After
Grace’s early death, Harvey married Ethel Robertson (1906).
Their son, John William Greeter (1932), graduated from the
University of Tennessee and returned to the family business.
After a few years, he formed his own company, Greeter Build-
ing Center and Ready-Mix Concrete in Monteagle. He and his
wife, Lois, live in Manchester and have two children, John Alan
(1962 — 2002) and Patricia Ann (1969). John William is the
source for this information on the Greeters.

Harvey’s brother Leo married Louise Schultz (1903 —1989)
and had a daughter, Mary Ann who married Robert Dalton and
had a daughter, Eveyonne. Harvey’s youngest brother, Werner,
and his wife Margarette had a daughter, Joyce, who married
Claude Henley. They are the current owners of Greeter Lumber
in Altamont as well as the related Henley Millwork in Decherd.
The Henleys have three children, Claudia, Joy, and Sam.

* * *

In the early 1890’s, Johann Baggenstoss left his home in
Rafz, Switzerland and with his cousin, Emil Segrist, sailed for
America. The family has been unable to locate the ship mani-
fests or Ellis Island records that would document his arrival.
Since he was a baker by trade, it is assumed that he worked
aboard the ship as